
 

  
 

 
 

TO THE CHAIRMAN AND MEMBERS OF THE  
EXECUTIVE 
 
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the Executive to be held on Thursday,             
14 December 2023 at 7.00 pm in the Council Chamber, Civic Offices, Gloucester Square, Woking, 
Surrey GU21 6YL. 
 
Please note the meeting will be filmed and will be broadcast live and subsequently as an archive 
on the Council’s website (www.woking.gov.uk).  The images and sound recording will also be used 
for training purposes within the Council.  The broadcast will be stopped when the confidential/Part 
II item on the agenda is reached. Generally, the public seating areas are not filmed. However, by 
entering the meeting room and using the public seating area, you are consenting to being filmed. 
The Chairman of the meeting has the discretion to terminate or suspend filming, if in his/her 
opinion continuing to do so would prejudice the proceedings of the meeting or, on advice, 
considers that continued filming might infringe the rights of any individual. 
As cameras are linked to the microphones, could Members ensure they switch their microphones 
on before they start to speak and off when finished and do not remove the cards which are in the 
microphones. 
 
 
The agenda for the meeting is set out below. 
 
JULIE FISHER 
Chief Executive 
 
 

AGENDA 

PART I - PRESS AND PUBLIC PRESENT 
  
1. Apologies for Absence  

 
2. Declarations of Interest (Pages 5 - 6) 
 (i)         To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary and other interests from Members in 

respect of any item to be considered at the meeting. 
(ii)        In accordance with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules, the Strategic Director - 

Corporate Resources, Kevin Foster, declares a disclosable personal interest (non-
pecuniary) in any items concerning the companies of which he is a Council-appointed 
director.  The companies are listed in the attached schedule.  The interests are such 
that Mr Foster may advise on those items. 

 

 

Public Document Pack



 
 

(iii)      In accordance with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules, the Strategic Director - 
Communities, Louise Strongitharm, declares a disclosable personal interest (non-
pecuniary) in any items concerning the companies of which she is a Council-appointed 
director.  The companies are listed in the attached schedule.  The interests are such 
that Mrs Strongitharm may advise on those items. 

(iv)      In accordance with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules, the Head of 
Transformation, Digital and Customer, Adam Walther, declares a disclosable personal 
interest (non-pecuniary) in any items concerning the companies of which he is a 
Council-appointed director.  The companies are listed in the attached schedule.  The 
interests are such that Mr Walther may advise on those items. 

 
3. Minutes (Pages 7 - 16) 
 To approve the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 16 November 2023 as 

published. 
 

 
4. Urgent Business  
 To consider any business that the Chairman rules may be dealt with under Section 100B(4) 

of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

 
 
Questions 
 
 
5. To deal with any written questions submitted under Section 3 of the Executive Procedure 

Rules.  Copies of the questions and draft replies will be published shortly before the 
meeting.  

 
 
 
Petitions 
 
 
6. Petition - Brookwood Lye Development EXE23-078 (Pages 17 - 18) 
 Reporting Person – Beverley Kuchar 

 
 
 
Matters for Determination 
 
 
7. Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and General Fund Budget 2024-25 EXE23-

059 (Pages 19 - 40) 
 Reporting Person – Eugene Walker 

 
 
8. Draft Housing Revenue Account Budget Update 2024-25 EXE23-060 (Pages 41 - 48) 
 Reporting Persons – Eugene Walker and Louise Strongitharm 

 
 
9. Update to Improvement and Recovery Plan EXE23-085 (Pages 49 - 54) 
 Reporting Person – Julie Fisher 

 
 
10. Asset Disposal EXE23-081 (Pages 55 - 62) 
 Reporting Person – Kevin Foster 

 
 



 
 

 
Exclusion of the Press and Public 
 
 
11. The Chairman will move and the Vice-Chair will second:-  
 “That the press and public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of item 12 in 

view of the nature of the proceedings that, if members of the press and public were present 
during this item, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A, to the Local Government Act 1972. 
  
Paragraph 3 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information).” 
  

PART II – PRESS AND PUBLIC EXCLUDED 
 

 
 
Matters for Determination 
 
 
12. Asset Disposal EXE23-082 (Pages 63 - 66) 
 Reporting Person – Kevin Foster 

 
 
 
AGENDA ENDS 
 
Date Published - 6 December 2023 
 
 

For further information regarding this agenda and 
arrangements for the meeting, please contact Julie 
Northcote on 01483 743053 or email 
julie.northcote@woking.gov.uk 
  
 





Schedule Referred to in Declaration of Interests 

Council-appointed directorships 

Kevin Foster, Strategic Director – Corporate Resources 

Brookwood Cemetery Limited Kingfield Community Sports Centre Limited 

Brookwood Park Limited LAC 2021 Limited (Dormant) 

Export House Limited Woking Necropolis and Mausoleum Limited 

Woking Shopping Limited 
 

Louise Strongitharm, Strategic Director – Communities 

Rutland Woking (Carthouse Lane) Limited Rutland Woking (Residential) Limited 

Rutland (Woking) Limited 
 

Adam Walther, Head of Transformation, Digital and Customer 

Brookwood Cemetery Limited Thameswey Developments Limited 

Brookwood Park Limited Thameswey Energy Limited 

Thameswey Central Milton Keynes Limited Thameswey Limited 

Thameswey Sustainable Communities Limited Thameswey Solar Limited 

Woking Necropolis and Mausoleum Limited 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2.





 
Executive 16 November 2023 

 
 

179 

MINUTES 
 

OF A MEETING OF THE  
 

EXECUTIVE 
 

 
held on 16 November 2023 
Present: 
 

Cllr A-M Barker (Chairman) 
Cllr W Forster (Vice-Chair) 

 
Cllr P Graves 
Cllr I Johnson 

Cllr L Lyons 
 

Cllr E Nicholson 
Cllr D Roberts 

 
Also Present: Councillors J Brown, K Davis and L Rice. 
 
  
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
No apologies for absence were received. 

 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
In accordance with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules, the Strategic Director – 
Corporate Resources, Kevin Foster, declared a disclosable personal interest (non-
pecuniary) in any items concerning the companies of which he was a Council-appointed 
director.  The interests were such that Mr Foster could advise the Executive on those 
items. 

In accordance with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules, the Strategic Director – 
Communities, Louise Strongitharm, declared a disclosable personal interest (non-
pecuniary) in any items concerning the companies of which she was a Council-appointed 
director.  The interests were such that Mrs Strongitharm could advise the Executive on 
those items. 

The interest of the Head of Transformation, Digital and Customer, Adam Walther, was 
referred to in the agenda but it should be noted that Mr Walther was not present at the 
meeting. 

 
3. MINUTES  

 
RESOLVED 
  
That the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 5 October 2023 
be approved and signed as a true and correct record. 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3.



 
Executive 16 November 2023 

 
 

180 

4. URGENT BUSINESS  
 
There were no items of Urgent Business under Section 100B(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972. 

The Leader of the Council, Councillor Barker, provided a short update on the progress to 
recruit a new Chief Finance Officer/S114 Officer and a Deputy Finance Officer.  It was 
noted that the recruitment process would involve cross party involvement.  The Leader 
hoped that the positions would attract experienced finance people keen to have the 
opportunity to tackle the Council’s challenges long-term. 

The Leader advised that, since the last meeting of the Executive, the Chief Executive had 
announced her resignation.  The Leader was disappointed to lose Mrs Fisher, however 
understood the personal decision that she had made.  The Executive was informed that 
Mrs Fisher would remain with the Council until the budget was set in February 2024.  The 
Leader would provide an update on plans to recruit a new Chief Executive in the near 
future.  The Leader commented that the Council’s Corporate Leadership Team (CLT) was 
committed to working for Woking and that the Leader had full confidence that CLT would 
do its best as the Council worked towards a balanced budget in February and beyond. 

 
5. QUESTIONS  

 
No written questions had been submitted under Section 3 of the Executive Procedure 
Rules.  The Leader highlighted that the Executive welcomed questions from members of 
the public and explained the submission process.  The deadline for written questions from 
members of the public was 12 noon, seven days before the Executive.  The next Executive 
would be held on 14 December 2023, so the deadline for written questions was 12 noon, 7 
December 2023. 

The Leader also highlighted that questions from members of the public were welcomed at 
Full Council and explained the submission process.  The deadline for written questions 
from members of the public was 12 noon, seven working days before Full Council.  The 
next Full Council would be held on 30 November 2023 and the deadline for written 
questions was 12 noon, 21 November 2023. 

 
6. REVIEW OF FEES AND CHARGES 2024-25 EXE23-057  

 
The Executive received a report detailing the proposed discretionary fees and charges for 
2024-25.  Councillor Roberts, Portfolio Holder for Finance, highlighted that the review of 
fees and charges needed to be considered in the context of, and was constrained by, the 
Council’s current financial position following the issue of a Section 114 Notice in June 
2023.  The Executive noted that the Council faced a deficit of £1.2bn and was experiencing 
a budget shortfall of £12m due to an over reliance on commercial income.  The Portfolio 
Holder advised that the Council had identified £8.5m savings to address the budget 
shortfall.  Separately, the Council was working to resolve the historic debt which would 
prevent a legal budget being set for 2024-25 without Government support. 

Attention was drawn to the Council’s Improvement and Recovery Plan (IRP) which would 
address the capacity of the finance team, and the required improvements in the financial 
and commercial information which supported decision making on fees and charges.  A 
Commercial Strategy was being developed as part of the IRP which would be used as a 
framework for setting fees and charges going forward.  The Portfolio Holder therefore 

Page 8



 
Executive 16 November 2023 

 
 

181 

proposed an additional recommendation (iv) to read “next year’s process will use the 
Commercial Strategy and Protocol being developed as part of the Improvement and 
Recovery as the framework for setting fees and charges, to ensure that fairness, equity 
and social impacts are balanced with a sound commercial approach”.  The Executive 
welcomed the amendment to the recommendations. 

Regarding car park charges, it was noted that a Parking Study was currently taking place 
and proposals would be put forward for Member consideration in February 2024. 

The Portfolio Holder was grateful that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee would be 
considering the Review of Fees of Charge 2024-25 report under Urgent Business at its 
meeting on 20 November 2023. 

Members also discussed charges regarding commercial open spaces, season tickets 
related to CO2 rating, garden waste and replacement waste bins, and consultation in 
respect of proposed January 2024 increases.  Regarding community meals, the Executive 
acknowledged the rising costs of food items and recognised that increases were necessary 
to ensure services could continue and were cost neutral.  As many of the services provided 
by the Council were non-statutory, it was necessary to increase fees and charges in order 
to continue provision and ensure services were cost neutral whilst being mindful of 
affordability. 

Councillor Davis raised a question regarding the level of detail in the report and the 
difficulty in scrutinising fees and charges as a result.  The Portfolio Holder acknowledged 
that the financial and commercial information used for setting fees and charges needed to 
further improve as part of the wider Improvement and Recovery journey.  It was noted that 
Officers had used the best information available to put forward cost neutral discretionary 
services, balancing fairness to service users with affordability to taxpayers. 

RECOMMENDED to Council 

That  (i) the discretionary fees and charges for 2024/25, as set out in 
Appendices 1 – 4 of the report, be approved; 

          (ii) the proposed increases in discretionary fees and charges 
from 1st January 2024, as set out in Appendices 5 – 7 of the 
report, be approved;  

          (iii) to move the waste service to a cost neutral position as soon 
as possible, any of the proposed 2024/25 increases for Bulky 
Waste and Waste Receptacles set out in Appendix 2 to the 
report that can be implemented quickly should be introduced 
at the earliest practical date following approval by Council; 
and 

          (iv) next year’s process will use the Commercial Strategy and 
Protocol being developed as part of the Improvement and 
Recovery as the framework for setting fees and charges, to 
ensure that fairness, equity and social impacts are balanced 
with a sound commercial approach. 

Reason: The regular review of discretionary charges ensures that the 
Council maintains its income base and generates additional 
resources for the provision of services. 

Page 9



 
Executive 16 November 2023 

 
 

182 

7. CLIMATE CHANGE SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT (SPD) EXE23-067  
 
The Executive received a report which recommended to Council the adoption of the 
revised Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) which would provide 
updated guidance on the application of policies within the Core Strategy relating to climate 
change.  Councillor Lyons, Portfolio Holder for Planning Policy, advised that the 
consultation on the Climate Change SPD had been widely advertised and had received 17 
responses, including Thames Water, Natural England, WeACT and local Neighbourhood 
Forums.  Following a question, it was confirmed that the number of responses received 
was typical for such a consultation.  The Portfolio Holder thanked Officers for their hard 
work on the revision of the SPD. 

RECOMMENDED to Council 

That  (i) the various representations to the Climate Change 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) consultation 
together with Officer’s responses and recommendations as 
set out in Appendix 1 to the report be noted; 

          (ii) the revised Climate Change SPD included in Appendix 2 to 
the report be adopted as Supplementary Planning Document 
for the purposes of managing development across the 
Borough and other planning decisions; and 

          (iii) the requirements of the SPD should apply from the date of 
adoption, in this case 30th November 2023. 

Reason: To ensure that there is up to date guidance on the implementation 
of policies within the Core Strategy relating to climate change and 
ensuring development can contribute towards the vision of a 
sustainable Woking. 

 
8. CALENDAR OF MEETINGS 2024-25 EXE23-058  

 
The Executive received a report which sought approval to recommend to Council the 
Calendar of Meetings 2024-25.  It was noted that the report proposed that meetings of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee were held in the same week as the Executive to allow 
for pre-decision scrutiny.  In addition, it was proposed to reduce the number of Planning 
Committees held during June and July.  The Leader reminded Members that additional 
meetings could be arranged during the Municipal Year if required. 

RECOMMENDED to Council 

That the Calendar of Meetings 2024/25 be approved as set out in 
Appendix 1 to the report. 

Reason: In accordance with Standing Order 1.2 of the Constitution, which 
states that “The date of the annual (Council) meeting and those of 
ordinary meetings shall be fixed by the Council in or about 
December of the preceding municipal year”. 

 

Page 10



 
Executive 16 November 2023 

 
 

183 

9. COMPANIES GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK AND BUSINESS CASES FOR VICTORIA 
SQUARE WOKING LTD AND THAMESWEY DEVELOPMENTS LTD (SHEERWATER) 
SUPPORTED BORROWING EXE23-069  
 
The Executive received a report which sought approval of the adoption of the Companies’ 
Governance Framework which would provide a comprehensive, scalable set of 
requirements for all companies in which the Council had an interest.  The report also 
provided an update on the two business cases submitted to Government through the 
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) in respect of Victoria 
Square Woking Limited (VSWL) and ThamesWey Housing Limited (Sheerwater). 

Following the Council’s policy decision to reform company governance in July 2022, the 
Council had removed Councillors as directors of Council-owned companies to avoid any 
conflict of interests, and had introduced the Shareholder Liaison Service.  It was noted that 
the Companies’ Governance Framework would strengthen the arrangements the Council 
and its companies had in place and followed national best practice. 

Councillor Forster, Portfolio Holder for Key Projects, provided an update on the business 
cases which had been presented to Government regarding the Victoria Square and 
Sheerwater Regeneration schemes in consultation with Commissioners and advisors.  The 
detailed business cases were included in the Part 2 report due to commercial sensitivities.  
The Portfolio Holder explained that the business cases set out the reasoning as to why it 
was in the broader interests of the public purse for the Government to allow the Council to 
continue to access Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) borrowing to enable the completion 
of the Victoria Square hotel and the three phases (Red, Yellow, Copper) of the Sheerwater 
Regeneration scheme, thereby increasing the value of the assets. 

Following a question regarding timelines for implementation of the Companies’ 
Governance Framework, the Executive was informed that decisions on the Framework 
would be delegated to the Monitoring Officer and that it would be implemented on 21 
November 2023 at the Shareholder Advisory Group. 

Councillor Brown asked whether it would be possible to make the business plans publicly 
available.  The Portfolio Holder undertook to seek legal advice on the matter. 

The Executive thanked Officers and Commissioners for their hard work on preparing the 
complex business cases. 

RESOLVED 

That  (i) the Companies’ Governance Framework be adopted in full and 
applied to the Council itself and to all Council owned or part 
owned entities, and that any Shareholder directions required to 
implement the Framework be delegated to the Monitoring Officer; 
and 

          (ii) the update on the business cases be noted. 

Reason: Adoption of the Framework will bring the companies and the 
Council’s governance arrangements up to a recognised standard, 
and in doing so protect the interests of all parties. 

 

Page 11



 
Executive 16 November 2023 

 
 

184 

10. UPDATE ON GENERAL FUND AND HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGETS 2024-
25 EXE23-079  
 
Councillor Roberts, Portfolio Holder for Finance, introduced the report which provided an 
interim update on the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Budgets 2024-25.  The 
Executive noted that a more detailed report would be received by the Executive at its 
meeting on 14 December 2023, and an all Member Briefing would be held on 11 December 
2023.  The Portfolio Holder highlighted that the budget gap had widened to £19.3m in 
2024-25 due to increased capital financing costs and ongoing pressures on commercial 
income.  The Executive remained focussed on the savings target and analysing the 
consultation responses on the savings proposals. 

It was noted that work continued on the complex debt reduction plan, building proposals to 
provide the basis for discussions with Commissioners, DLUHC and HM Treasury, including 
an asset disposal strategy.  Decisions on debt reduction would be taken in the best 
interests of the public purse, and it was expected that a long-term strategic asset disposal 
strategy would be preferred with proposals being received by the Executive and Council in 
due course. 

Members also discussed anticipated rent increases and the level of recharges between the 
General Fund and HRA. 

The Leader drew attention to Appendix 1 to the report which highlighted the work taking 
place in depth by Councillors to review the finances of the Council ahead of budget setting 
in February 2024. 

RESOLVED 

That the information in the report be noted and the timetable and process for 
the budget be agreed. 

Reason: To provide information on the current budget position and 
timetable for further work. 

 
11. GENERAL FUND AND HRA OUTTURN REPORT 2022-23 EXE23-075  

 
The Executive received a report which set out the General Fund and HRA Outturn for 
2022-23.  It was explained that the provisional outturn formed the basis of the Annual 
Statement of Accounts. 

Following a question regarding Table 3.0 in the report relating to interest charges of some 
£5.5m in the HRA account, the Executive was advised that the interest charges related to 
long term historic loans on the HRA.  It was further explained that the majority of the capital 
investment related to the 2012 self-financing settlement, however the HRA had borrowed 
more recently in respect of the Hale End Court development. 

The Leader highlighted the positive news that, following the decision made on the future of 
Sheerwater by the Council at its last meeting, 106 homes would go back into the HRA in 
2024-25. 

RESOLVED 

the reported outturn position be noted. 

Page 12



 
Executive 16 November 2023 

 
 

185 

Reason: To analyse the outturn position for the General Fund and Housing 
Revenue Account for financial year 2022/23. 

 
12. CIL - APPLICATION FOR FUNDING - WEST BYFLEET REC TENNIS COURT 

ENHANCEMENT EXE23-052  
 
The Executive received an application for Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) which 
sought to secure £71,500 to install two tennis courts at the West Byfleet Recreation 
Ground.  It was noted that the application was conditional upon funding of £56,000 from the 
Lawn Tennis Association (LTA).  The application met the requirements of a CIL application 
and had broad community support with all Ward Councillors supportive of the project.  It 
was noted that the LTA would oversee the project.  The funds would be available for 
release from February 2024, subject to receiving £56,000 from the LTA.  Should the 
Executive agree the application, it would become a contractual commitment and the money 
would not be able to be used for another purpose. 

Councillor Brown queried the status of a further CIL application which had been submitted 
to the Council.  The Portfolio Holder, Councillor Lyons, undertook to investigate the status 
of the application and report back to Councillor Brown. 

The Executive welcomed the positive project and was happy to support the application. 

RESOLVED 

That  (i) the application submitted by Ward Councillors for West Byfleet 
Neighbourhood Area to install two tennis courts at West Byfleet 
Recreation Ground be approved; and 

          (ii) the Ward Councillors for the West Byfleet Neighbourhood Area be 
asked to oversee all works relating to the procurement and 
installation of the tennis courts in accordance with their project 
plan, project specification, costs and quality control. 

Reason: To enable funding to be secured for the installation of two tennis 
courts at the West Byfleet Recreational Ground, West Byfleet 
Neighbourhood Area. 

 
13. PERFORMANCE AND FINANCIAL MONITORING INFORMATION  

 
The Executive considered the Performance and Financial Monitoring Information contained 
in the Performance Management Report – Quarter 2, 2023/24.  The Executive was advised 
that the helpful and informative new report replaced the previous Green Book.  The report, 
covering July to September 2023, summarised the financial picture, provided progress 
against the IRP and KPIs, and was structured around the three Directorates within the 
Council. 

Attention was drawn to the challenges faced by the Communities Directorate.  The Portfolio 
Holder for Living Well advised that the Wellbeing Team produced a similar report on health 
needs in the Borough and suggested that the information be incorporated in some way into 
the Performance Management Report.  The Leader agreed to consider how the information 
could be incorporated going forward. 

Page 13



 
Executive 16 November 2023 

 
 

186 

Regarding the Place Directorate, the Portfolio Holder for Waste and Recycling drew 
attention to the KPI in relation to recycling.  The Portfolio Holder encouraged residents to 
use the food waste bins provided as the cost of collecting food waste was considerably 
less than collection of residual waste. 

The Executive welcomed the new Performance Management Report which would provide 
an overview of how each Directorate was performing, supporting greater openness and 
accountability, as well as aligning performance monitoring with the Improvement and 
Recovery Plan priorities. 

RESOLVED 

That the Performance and Financial Monitoring Information contained in the 
Performance Management Report – Quarter 2, 2023-24, be received. 

Reason: To manage the performance of the Council. 

 
14. FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT - BUDGET MONITORING AND FORECAST 2023-

24 - QUARTER 2 EXE23-071  
 
The Executive received a Financial Monitoring Report which set out the material financial 
issues identified since the 2023/24 budget was set, based on the income and expenditure 
as at end of September 2023 (Quarter 2).  The Executive was advised that the September 
(Q2) outturn projected an overspend of £7.5m for the year, compared with a £6.2m 
projected overspend reported for June (Q1).  Service managers would continue to seek 
opportunities to identify further savings opportunities to mitigate overspends. 

RESOLVED 

That  (i) the Council’s forecast General Fund outturn position for 2023/24 
be noted; and 

          (ii) it be noted that the Corporate Leadership Team will continue to 
identify mitigations to enable the net expenditure for 2023/24 to be 
contained within budget approved by Council on 23 February 
2023. 

Reason: Controlling the outturn within budget is essential to maintain 
financial control. 

 
15. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  

 
RESOLVED 

That the press and public be excluded from the meeting during consideration 
of items 16 and 17 in view of the nature of the proceedings that, if members 
of the press and public were present during these items, there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 
of Schedule 12A, to the Local Government Act 1972. 

Paragraph 3 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information). 

Page 14



 
Executive 16 November 2023 

 
 

187 

16. COMPANIES GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK AND BUSINESS CASES FOR VICTORIA 
SQUARE WOKING LTD AND THAMESWEY DEVELOPMENTS LTD (SHEERWATER) 
SUPPORTED BORROWING EXE23-080  
 

RESOLVED 

That the update on the business cases be noted. 

Reason: To receive commercially sensitive information supporting the Part 
1 report. 

 
17. CONTRACT UPDATE EXE23-076  

 
RESOLVED 

That the contents of the report be noted and any feedback or comments be 
provided to Officers. 

Reason: To update the Executive regarding a confidential contract matter. 

 

This document was published on Friday 17 November 2023 and the decisions within 
it will be implemented on Monday 27 November 2023, subject to call-in. 

 
The meeting commenced at 7.00 pm 
and ended at 9.17 pm. 
 
 
Chairman:   Date:  

 
 

Page 15





 

EXE23-078 

 

EXECUTIVE – 14 DECEMBER 2023 

PETITION – BROOKWOOD LYE DEVELOPMENT 

Executive Summary 

Woking Borough Council has received a petition which asks the Council to fully deliver on the long-
term vision for Brookwood Lye Road. 

In accordance with Woking Borough Council’s arrangements for petitions, the matter has been 
referred for consideration by the Executive. 

 

 

Recommendations 

The Executive is requested to consider the petition and determine accordingly. 

 

Reasons for Decision 

Reason: To agree a response to the petition. 

 
 

The Executive has the authority to determine the recommendation(s) set out above. 

 

 

Background Papers: Online petition. 
 
Reporting Person: Beverley Kuchar, Acting Strategic Director - Place 
 Email: beverley.kuchar@woking.gov.uk, Extn: 3473  
 
Contact Person: Thomas James, Development Manager 
 Email: thomas.james@woking.gov.uk, Extn: 3435  
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Ann-Marie Barker 
 Email: cllrann-marie.barker@woking.gov.uk 
 
Date Published: 6 December 2023 
 

  

Page 17

Agenda Item 6.



Petition – Brookwood Lye Development 
 

 
 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 A petition has been received which asks the Council to fully the deliver on the long-term vision 
for Brookwood Lye Road.  The petition has been received through the Council’s online e-
petition scheme and received 215 signatures. 

1.2 The number of signatures exceeds the threshold required for a petition to be referred to a 
meeting of the Executive and accordingly the Petitioner or their nominee has been invited to 
present the petition at the Executive. 

1.3 The petition has been submitted in the following terms: 

“We the undersigned petition the council to fully deliver on the long-term vision for Brookwood 
Lye Road including the 128 dwellings, 19 pitch Traveller site and road improvements. This 
vision was widely consulted on and has demonstrable support from local residents. The 
approved planning application for the Traveller site (PLAN/2017/1307), was agreed at Planning 
Committee on 23 February 2021. The application for the 128 dwellings (PLAN/2021/0248) 
submitted by the Council's wholly owned subsidiary Thameswey will deliver 64 dwellings as 
affordable, which is much needed in Brookwood and the surrounding villages of Knaphill and 
St. Johns. The A322 Corridor Consultation in July 2017, had the overwhelming support of local 
residents for the proposed improvements to Brookwood Crossroads.” 

1.4 The online petition went live on 14 October 2022 and closed on 14 October 2023. 

2.0 Petition Scheme 

2.1 As the number of signatories exceeds 200, the petition falls to be debated at the Executive.  In 
accordance with the Council’s scheme for dealing with petitions, the petitioner has been invited 
to attend the meeting and present the petition.  The presentation of a petition is limited to not 
more than three minutes, and should be confined to reading out, or summarising, the purpose 
of the petition, indicating the number and description of signatories, and making supporting 
remarks relevant to the petition. 

2.2 Following the presentation, Members of the Executive will have the opportunity to ask 
questions of the petitioner.  Thereafter, the Executive will discuss the petition and determine 
what action, if any, is to be taken.  To assist the Executive, Officer comments are set out below. 

3.0 Officer Comments 

3.1 Planning application PLAN/2017/1307 for the “Demolition of an existing one-storey dwelling 
and ancillary structures associated with the existing caravan park (SG) which provides 13 
permanent and 2 temporary pitches at Five Acres, to construct a replacement two-storey 
dwelling and a replacement caravan park comprised of 19 permanent pitches with hard and 
soft landscaping and relocated access” was reported to Planning Committee on 23 February 
2021. The Planning Committee resolved to grant planning permission subject to the completion 
of a Section 106 legal agreement, the terms of which are set out in the committee report. The 
legal agreement has not been signed and until it has, planning permission cannot be issued. 
Planning application PLAN/2021/0248 for the “demolition of 4 residential units and ancillary 
structures associated with the existing caravan park at Five Acres to construct 128 residential 
units two-storey and three-storeys in height, including the creation of an improved access road 
from Brookwood Lye Road, footpath to Brookwood Lye Road, car parking, 2 local areas of 
play, hard and soft landscaping” has not been progressed. Officers are working with the 
applicant and land owners to resolve outstanding matters in order for the site to be developed 
which will meet the objectives of the requirements contained within the Site Allocations 
Development Plan Document. 

REPORT ENDS 

Page 18



 

EXE23-059 

 

EXECUTIVE – 14 DECEMBER 2023 

DRAFT MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY (MTFS) AND GENERAL FUND BUDGET 
2024-25 

Executive Summary 

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is a key document in the Council’s financial planning 
cycle.  This document sets out the strategic financial approach that the Council needs to take to 
deliver the Improvement and Recovery Plan (IRP) and respond to the Council’s serious financial 
position, as set out in the Section 114 Notice issued in June 2023, whilst continuing to meet its 
statutory duties.  This approach includes the development of a debt reduction plan and asset 
disposal strategy. 
 
No decisions are required directly by this report but the approach set out here follows on from the 
s114 earlier this year, the September MTFS update and will form the basis of the final 
recommendations by the Interim Director of Finance and s151 Officer to the budget setting Council 
in February.   
 
The paper includes updates on the processes for Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs) and public 
consultation on proposed changes to Council services. It also sets out the potential impact of the 
capacity issues in the finance team and related data issues and mitigations being put in place. 
 
At this stage, whilst a significant amount of work has been undertaken a number of the £8.5m savings 
identified in September have risks attached to them or are being revised in the light of further work 
and consultation. Further work is therefore in hand to maintain this level of savings and move towards 
the £12m target where possible. The Council needs to demonstrate to Commissioners and the 
Government that post intervention it is aiming to maximise the level of savings possible to live within 
its means.  

Recommendations 

The Executive is requested to: 

RESOLVE That        

(i) the updated position on the MTFS be noted, including work on 
public and staff consultation and more detailed work to update 
the delivery options and costs of the savings proposed in 
September 2023; 
 

(ii) whilst significant progress has been made on this work, the 
scale of the challenges mean that the level of savings is at risk 
and further options still need to be reviewed and presented to 
Members of Finance Working Group, Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and finally to Executive and Full Council in February 
2024;  

 
(iii) it be noted that following public consultation and further options 

analysis on Pool in the Park, the option to increase fees and 
charges is potentially a viable recommendation in the final 
budget report; and 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 7.



Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and General Fund Budget 2024-25 
 

 
 

(iv) the continued use of Lloyds banking facilities, as set out in 
paragraph 11.5 of the report, be approved. 

 

Reasons for Decision 

Reason: The contents of the report is to ensure open and transparent 
governance in the financial affairs of the Council in balancing the 
2024/25 Budget. 

 

The Executive has the authority to determine the recommendation(s) set out above. 

 

 

 

Background Papers: None. 
 
Reporting Person: Eugene Walker, Interim Finance Director & Section 151 Officer 
 Email: eugene.walker@woking.gov.uk, Extn: 3070 
 
Contact Person: Eugene Walker, Interim Finance Director & Section 151 Officer 
 Email: eugene.walker@woking.gov.uk, Extn: 3070 
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Dale Roberts 
 Email: cllrdale.roberts@woking.gov.uk 
 
Date Published: 6 December 2023 
 

  

Page 20



Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and General Fund Budget 2024-25 
 

 
 

1.0 Government Intervention 

1.1 On Thursday 25 May 2023, the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
(DLUHC) published the outcome of its non-statutory external assurance review into Woking 
Borough Council’s (WBC) finances, investments and related governance. The Secretary of 
State considered the Council was failing to comply with its best value duty under the Local 
Government Act 1999. In particular, the scale of financial and commercial risk due to the 
Council’s legacy of disproportionate levels of debt at over £2billion. The government’s 
intervention will be in place for five years. 

2.0 Section 114 Notice June 2023 

2.1 On 7 June 2023, the then Section 151 Officer issued WBC with a Section 114 Notice. The 
notice was required because the Council’s expenditure was likely to exceed the financial 
resources available, and therefore it could no longer balance its budget for the remainder of 
the financial year and subsequent years. The Council faces this extremely serious financial 
shortfall because of its historic investment strategy that has resulted in unaffordable borrowing, 
inadequate steps to repay that borrowing and high values of irrecoverable loans. The notice 
stated that against available core funding of £16m in the 2023/24 financial year, WBC faced a 
deficit of £1.2bn, which broadly represents the cost of impaired loans and the need to make 
backdated provision for the repayment of debt. Further work has been undertaken along with 
Commissioners to develop a debt reduction plan in response to this and an update is provided 
in this report. 

2.2 Clearly, the size and scale of the historic debt prevents a legal budget being set for 2024/25 
without some form of support from Government. Discussions via the Commissioners on this 
are taking place. However, to access any support, the Council needs to show that it is ‘living 
within its means’ and taking steps to meet a significant part of the deficit from its own resources. 
This includes developing a disposal strategy for the Council’s property portfolio, in a way that 
delivers the best returns for the public purse, allowing key services to be maintained and 
reduces the cost of debt servicing.  

2.3 Work with Commissioners has focussed on separating, as far as possible, how this historic 
debt is dealt with from the challenge of setting a “business as usual” budget for Woking’s 
services to its residents. This approach will continue through to budget setting. 

3.0 Council Vision 

3.1 The scale of the financial problem and the Government intervention are clearly major 
determinants of what the Council is able to now deliver. However, Council recognises how 
important it is for Members, residents, staff and partners nevertheless to have a clear and 
positive vision for the future.  This vision needs to be set in the context of Woking facing 
significant financial challenges.  This means becoming a smaller organisation focussed on the 
core services required of a borough council.  

3.2 The Council’s leadership have been working on what this vision looks like and are now 
gathering feedback from wider Members and staff. The aim is to present this vision alongside 
the budget papers in February 2024.  The vision then needs to be embedded into how WBC 
operates.  The Council will therefore review the ‘Woking for All Strategy’ to update its objectives 
to align to the vision through the spring, ensuring there is a clear thread between vision, 
strategy, objectives and delivery. 

 

Page 21



Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and General Fund Budget 2024-25 
 

 
 

4.0 Benchmarking 

4.1 As part of the budget setting process, it is important to understand how WBC’s service offer 
compares to other councils. To aid this work, Local Partnerships have been commissioned to 
carry out a benchmarking exercise between statistical nearest neighbours. The information 
includes comparative revenue outturn data, census, and planning data from national sources. 
Initial research has drawn some conclusions that support known issues. Specifically, in the 
majority of areas reviewed, the Council has historically spent more than its statistical 
neighbours. Also, in some service areas there has been increased spend even though the 
population and household figures have not increased significantly.  

4.2 The data analysis is being led by officers working with the Executive Member for Finance and 
will be discussed with the Member Finance Working Group before being used as context for 
the final budget papers in February 2024. As part of this, the Executive Member has agreed 
further work being commissioned to ‘deep dive’ into several statutory services – this will allow 
direct comparisons to be made with similar sized authorities and identify where opportunities 
for service improvements might exist. This will likely inform future decisions on service 
provision in the further years of the MTFS. 

5.0 General Fund 2024/25 Budget – Approach Taken 

5.1 Earlier reports have highlighted the issues with data quality and the lack of accessible and 
meaningful financial information.  As part of the Finance Recovery Plan a programme of work 
is underway and improvements have been made, including the improvement of the budget 
monitoring information.  The work has not progressed at the desired pace due to the scale of 
the work required and the difficulties in finding suitable skilled capacity to carry out the work.  
This has impacted on the budget process.  The officer MTFP Working Group is overseeing the 
budget process and the steps required to develop and verify the detailed information required 
to underpin the 2024/25 budget.  Commissioners have supported the s151 Officer in sourcing 
additional capacity to ensure this work, and that on the draft accounts, is delivered within the 
required timescales. 

5.2 The September MTFS report identified budget savings of £8.5m against the previously agreed 
£12m target. This target is a significant challenge, given that the Council’s income from Council 
Tax and Business Rates (its “net budget”) is projected to be only £15million next year. 
However, gross service spending is higher at £45m due to some services being funded by fees 
and charges, which is why an increase in these charges must be a key part of a sustainable 
budget.  

5.3 The MTFS report indicated that even this significant target of £12m was insufficient to meet 
the pressures on the Council’s services (inflation, demand etc) which were estimated in 
September as £19million The additional costs over the target relate to Woking’s historic 
investments i.e. the large Commercial Estate and the cost of debt, not its day-to-day services. 
As it will be difficult to find additional savings above £12m given the size of Woking BC’s 
revenue budget in one year, the focus of financial planning for 2024/25 since September has 
been to: 

a)  Delivering the maximum possible savings against service budgets, as per the previously 
agreed £12m target. This will demonstrate the Council’s commitment to meeting as much 
of the deficit as possible. 

b)  Review the options for savings above the £12m from asset management and debt 
reduction options i.e. to target the historic arrangements that are the source of the 
pressures. This approach is part of the Commercial Strategy and asset rationalisation 
strategy being developed within the Council’s Improvement and Recovery Plan (IRP). 

Page 22



Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and General Fund Budget 2024-25 
 

 
 

5.4 Work since September is focussed on these two strands and further detail is set out in this 
report. As the work has progressed from initial options to more detailed proposals risks have 
been identified in the delivery and costing of the savings proposed in September. More detailed 
work is being carried out and some options are being reviewed as more detailed information 
becomes available and costs in the light of public consultation.  

5.5 Work on service budgets has involved both testing the existing £8.5m savings and identifying 
additional options and a review of the cost pressures (demand and inflation). This includes 
working with the Member Finance Working Group on key areas of concern for Members in the 
budget, such as reviewing key savings proposals like Pool in the Park in more depth and 
testing options, feeding their work back into Overview and Scrutiny Committee and all Member 
briefings. 

5.6 Work on a debt reduction plan linked to an asset rationalisation strategy has commenced and 
will develop proposals that provide a basis for Commissioners to discuss options with 
Government. This work is happening alongside that to the delivery of the £12m savings target 
and together will need to ensure a legal balanced budget for 2024/25 can be set. 

6.0 Progress Since September £12m Target 

6.1 Officers are working on both: 

a)  Base budget verification and update of estimates, comprised of work on both service 
costs and savings (e.g. Pool in the Park) and “corporate” items such as the provision 
made for inflation or wider commercial issues. 

b) Potential further options for Members to consider, e.g. further savings options or key 
Member decisions such as the level of Council Tax increase for 2024/25. 

6.2 No decisions are brought forward at this point – the purpose of this report is to ensure that all 
Members are aware of the current position and options, including information shared with the 
Member Finance Working Group. Key points highlighted below. 

6.3 The Service savings of £8.5m savings reported in September that formed the basis of 
consultation are summarised in the attached appendix which is the Annex 6 from the 
September report. They are a combination of proposed staff savings of circa £2.6m across 
most services within proposed budget reductions of £2.9m (part of phase 3A of the Fit for the 
Future Programme) and non-staff service savings in Phase 3B and 3C. The proposals included 
internal measures such as reducing ‘back-office’ services, management costs and reviewing 
Civic Office provision. It also includes proposed reductions to public-facing discretionary 
services including such as the phased closure of Pool in the Park; removal of funding to arts, 
cultural and sports development; removal of community grant funding and closure of public 
conveniences all of which are subject to public consultation. 

6.4 The budget verification work and consultation process will result in updated figures, with some 
reducing and others potentially increasing. Overall, further work currently suggests that a 
number of savings are at risk, so the £8.5m is likely to reduce, which puts more emphasis on 
the need to firm up any further savings options.  

Base Budget – Staff Savings 

6.5 There has been both an extensive public consultation exercise and an internal staff 
consultation process on the impacts of these savings. These exercises, together with work by 
the Finance team to verify and capture the costs of the savings will provide a comprehensive 
update on the final numbers for the February report.  

Page 23



Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and General Fund Budget 2024-25 
 

 
 

6.6 The restructure is Council wide and a significant exercise to deliver £2.6m of savings, including 
staff consultation and assessing service delivery impacts. This process is timetabled to 
continue until January 2024 so the final position and savings will be approved in the February 
budget report.  

6.7 Provision was made for the potential impact of approximately 60 full time equivalent posts. The 
work to verify the saving that the staff restructure process will deliver is still ongoing linked to 
the consultation process and includes tracking the level of redundancies and how this may be 
mitigated by vacancies that have been on hold during the process. Current modelling suggests 
that the restructure will deliver the planned savings. 

Base Budget – Service Savings and the Finance Working Group (FWG) 

6.8 The impact of the savings is significant, so to assist Members with the information required to 
make the difficult decisions that will be needed in February, there have been fortnightly 
meetings of the Finance Working Group (FWG), which includes Members of Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee meeting with senior officers. Further information has been and will 
continue to be provided for the FWG in the run up to the final budget report. 

6.9 Options appraisals are being undertaken for review by FWG on the key proposed changes to 
discretionary services that might deliver significant savings but have the potential to have a 
high impact on residents and stakeholders. The initial savings proposals are being reviewed 
and updated in line with the more detailed budget verification work.  This will include whether 
alternative options for the delivering the savings are required taking into account financial 
performance and usage of facilities, identified opportunities and constraints, emerging 
information from the budget consultation process, the Equality Impact Assessments and 
benchmarking data.  Updates will be provided as part of the Budget papers in February 2024. 

Pool in the Park 

6.10 The proposal to review this facility was the most commented on issue in the public consultation 
exercise. Based on this and discussions with user groups there is a clear preference for the 
Council to explore increasing fees and charges, including concessionary rates, as an 
alternative to closure. 

6.11 Council officers have therefore been working with Members on a detailed options analysis for 
Pool in the Park, that compares the full and partial closure options to a model that includes a 
significant change in charges to move towards nil subsidy and make the budget saving this 
way. There has been an extensive exercise to investigate the costs and issues that would arise 
if there were a full or phased closure. Benchmarking has shown that Woking’s current charges 
are low in comparison to neighbouring Councils. The options analysis is being finalised, but it 
is likely that a viable option can be presented to Council to increase charges to keep it open. 
Clearly if the income drops because of this, the Council will have to consider closure at a later 
date, but this would also allow time for other options including community ownership to be 
considered. Work will continue with user groups on this option in the run up to a final decision. 

Base Budget - Corporate Items 

6.12 The draft budget in the September report included the following that are being reviewed and 
updated again: 

-  an allowance for pay and price inflation 

-  Council Tax, business rates and New Homes Bonus income  

-  new budget pressures including car parking income, commercial rents and capital 
financing costs 

Page 24



Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and General Fund Budget 2024-25 
 

 
 

6.13 The Autumn Statement has confirmed that there is no additional funding for public services.  
This and recent policy statements have confirmed that the Settlement Funding Assessment 
(SFA) for Councils will be uplifted for the September CPI (6.7%) and the extension of some 
business rates reliefs to be funded by a S31 grant. The low level of Government grant received 
means this will not have a substantial impact on the budget. A further policy statement was 
published on 5 December which confirmed arrangements for continued in year payment of 
New Homes Bonus, with the Finance Settlement due on 18 or 19 December. 

6.14 Budget figures for council tax and business rates will be updated in line with the review of the 
collection performance and key decisions on declaring the Collection Fund surplus and setting 
the council tax and business rates base required in January.   

6.15 Other cost and income estimates built into the September report are being updated for 
February, as follows. 

6.16 Inflation and pressure assumptions are also be scrutinised and there are other areas of 
uncertainty in the budget that are being reviewed – in particular capital financing costs, 
commercial rents and lease premiums. 

6.17 Executive and Council have separately considered increases to fees and charges in 
discretionary services as an alternative to cutting services. The estimated impact of these 
decisions was set out in the report and has been built into the budget.  These figures will be 
updated once the final pieces of work on assessing risks on the impact on demand for services 
and the budget verification work has been completed.  

6.18 The savings included a forensic review of Council budgets with the aim of reducing spend by 
£0.750m – the finance team are reviewing all budget lines with service managers as part of a 
base budget review. This will allow for budget reductions to be built into the final report.  

6.19 The outturn report for 2022/23 included an adjustment to the Housing Revenue Account at a 
cost of £0.7m to the General Fund. This was not included in the September MTFS report but 
will now have to be built into the budget for next year (the 2022/23 figure is being updated for 
inflation and other factors). A full review of the HRA position is being carried out, including the 
recharge methodology to ensure that future recharges to the HRA are correct and any historic 
issues can be addressed. 

Base Budget - Capital Financing costs including Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 

6.20 As part of the Improvement and Recovery Plan work is underway to produce a detailed 
cashflow forecast and full reconciliation of the capital financing budget.  As part of the budget 
setting process and in line with discussions with government the following will be addressed: 

- An updated capital financing budget taking into account the detailed reconciliation work. 

- An updated forecast for interest costs on borrowing, taking into account the additional 
borrowing agreed, the requirements to support the Capital Strategy and required 
refinancing during the year.   

- The approach to Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). 

- The treatment of principal and interest repayments no longer recoverable from the 
companies following the suspension of the Revolving Credit Facility. 

6.21 These issues also form part of the ongoing discissions with Government. 

 

Page 25



Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and General Fund Budget 2024-25 
 

 
 

Further Options 

6.22 As stated earlier in the report, further work is required to identify savings to close the budget 
gap.  This includes: 

• A review of options previously identified in the Gateway savings exercise earlier in 
the year but not built into the budget. This work will assess their deliverability for next 
or future years. The work will also identify where an Equality Impact Assessment and 
consultation is required to inform the lead in time to their delivery. A realistic 
assessment of the capacity to deliver will also be required.  

• A thorough review of the provision for inflation and demand pressures built into 
service budgets is being undertaken with a view to maintaining cash standstill or less 
where feasible. 

6.23 The position on Council Tax is set out in a separate section below. 

7.0 Prior Year Costs and Impact on Budget Setting 

7.1 Additional challenges arise from the overspends in current year budget 2023/24 of £7.5m (plus 
£8m of reserves used to set the budget) and also the previous year’s 2022/23 outturn £9m 
above budget, as reported to November Executive.  

7.2 The cumulative impact of these costs is likely to still be over £20m at the point when Full 
Council sets the final budget in February and will be an issue in setting a legal budget.  

8.0 Debt Reduction Plan 

8.1 A key part of the Improvement and Recovery Plan is the asset rationalisation and debt 
reduction work.  The work is in the context of the strategic aim ‘to release the Council from 
unaffordable commitments whilst protecting the public purse and optimising the value of from 
existing assets’. 

8.2 The development of the Council’s overall commercial strategy is being led by the Strategic 
Director - Corporate Resources with the s151 Officer. They are supported by expert advisors 
who have provided advice to councils with similar financial and commercial challenges. The 
strategy will focus on bringing together all council commercial activities under one clear plan. 

8.3 This objective is based on having: 

• A full understanding of the activities of all council owned companies and joint ventures, 
and a plan to absolve the council of these arrangements.  

• A full understanding of all council owned property interests, whether freehold ownership, 
leasehold or leased. 

• To have a clear plan for the rationalization of property that matches the future needs of 
the council. 

• A review of procurement and contract management arrangements of suppliers, goods 
and services to ensure best value is maintained throughout the life of contracted out 
services which includes services provided by council owned companies. 

 

 

Page 26



Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and General Fund Budget 2024-25 
 

 
 

8.4 The strategy should place the following assets together for consideration. Currently they are 
being dealt with separately. 

• Victoria Place regeneration project and Victoria Square Woking Ltd. (VSWL) 

• ThamesWey Group Companies and the Sheerwater Regeneration project. 

• WBC Investment and Operational property portfolios rationalisation programme. 

8.5 The last three months has seen a breakthrough in the asset rationalisation work.  The next 
period will see the completion of a prioritised plan which will balance the urgent need to reduce 
the levels of debt with achieving value for money for the assets sold.  A programme of asset 
disposals for the next three years is developing.  Poor asset records remain a barrier to more 
rapid progress and even in the most aggressive scenario, disposals in the next two years are 
likely to be in the tens not hundreds of millions.  

9.0 Reserves and Section 25 Report 

9.1 In making decisions in relation to the revenue budget and council tax the Council has various 
legal and fiduciary duties. The Council is required by the Local Government Finance Act 1992 
to make specific estimates of gross revenue expenditure and anticipated income leading to the 
calculation of the council tax requirement and the setting of the overall budget and council tax. 
The amount of the council tax requirement must be sufficient to meet the Council’s legal and 
financial commitments, ensure the proper discharge of its statutory duties and lead to a 
balanced budget.  

9.2 In exercising its fiduciary duty, the Council should be satisfied that the proposals put forward 
are a prudent use of the Authority’s resources in both the short and long term; that the 
proposals strike a fair balance between the interests of Council taxpayers and ratepayers, 
current and future, on the one hand and the community’s interests in adequate and efficient 
services on the other; and that they are acting in good faith for the benefit of the community 
whilst complying with all statutory duties. Officers have addressed the duty to strike a fair 
balance between the different elements of the community and the interests of council tax and 
business rate payers in developing the proposals which are set out in the Directorate reports.  

9.3 Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires that when a local authority is making 
its budget calculations, the Chief Finance Officer (‘CFO’) of the authority must report to the 
Council on:  

- the robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the calculations; and  

- the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves.  

- the Council has a statutory duty to have regard to the CFO’s report when making 
decisions about the calculations.  

9.4 The ability for the Council to give assurances on the budget position will be dependent on the 
position reached in the discussions with Government on the amount and nature of support 
provided.  It is unlikely that a long-term support package will be agreed in time for the Council 
budget setting meeting in February and it is more likely that there will be a provisional offer of 
support that will give sufficient assurance that a balanced budget for 2024/25 can be set.   

9.5 As part of the MTFS in February a full Section 25 Statement will be provided by the s151 
Officer and agreed with Commissioners. As required by statute this will set out in full the risks 
to the budget position, following the format of the new CIPFA guidance and drafted in a way 
that is relevant to the circumstances the Council are in.  It remains of vital importance that the 
Council plays its part in the delivery of the required budget savings, whilst the government 

Page 27



Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and General Fund Budget 2024-25 
 

 
 

support addresses the significant issues arising from the historic debt and commercial 
activities. 

9.6 The budget report will also include gross and net control totals for each area of service that 
take into account all budget changes including changes in fees and charges, to the staffing 
structure and the savings to be delivered.  This is important for a transparent budget setting 
process and to support effective budget management during the year.  This information has 
been lacking in previous years. 

9.7 In previous years the Council has sometimes used significant contributions from Reserves to 
support service delivery.  As a result of the Financial Review undertaken to inform the Section 
114 Notice, the Council has no reserves.  Accordingly, the Council cannot use such reserves 
as a funding source in forming the 2024/25 Budget and will have limited resilience to any future 
shocks or budget risks. 

10.0 Council Tax 

10.1 The Council Tax referendum limit will remain unchanged from 2023/24 and is 3% for local 
authorities without social care responsibilities. This will generate £330k which has already 
been built into the base budget position. For upper tier authorities there is a further 2% precept 
for social care. Council tax increases above that level are normally subject to public 
consultation process but are also usually part of the Government’s position via an intervention. 
In other Councils subject to intervention, tax increases above the cap have been implemented 
as part of dealing with budget gaps. Thurrock and Slough Councils increased their tax by 10% 
and Croydon increased theirs by 15%. 

10.2 In this context and with the legacy debt problem, the final recommendation to Council in 
February will clearly not be a decision for Councillors alone. Discussions have started with 
Commissioners and will be followed up before the final decision is made. A Council Tax 
increase would help close the budget gap – each 1% increase raises £110k. It would not be 
possible to mitigate existing savings given the remaining budget gap.  

11.0 Capital Programme and Treasury Management Strategy 

11.1 A separate report is being drafted for approval in February on the Council’s Capital 
Programme, which will be a curtailed programme from previous years given the debt position. 
The Council has previously funded a number of capital investment programmes (such as 
Sheerwater and Victoria Square) through the setting up of group companies, financed through 
loans provided by the Council - drawn from the Public Works Loan Board. This practice has 
now been deemed both unsustainable and not compliant with financial regulations and a new 
Company Governance process has been put in place as agreed by Executive on 16 November 
2023. 

11.2 For next year and in future, the Council’s capital programme will be developed in line with the 
principles set out in the July 2023 report and reported as part of the budget process. The 
following Capital Planning Principles were adopted by Council in July 2023 to form the Capital 
Programme which will be presented to Council in February.  Proposals that do not fall within 
these ‘Capital Principles’ will not be included within the Draft Capital Programme. 

• Items of programming that relate to essential health and safety works and deliver 
compliance to the regulations within in the Council’s property estate. 

• Essential investment in Information & Communications Technology to ensure that the 
Council has fit for purpose and secure tools and infrastructure to support operations 
generally where there is a suitable business case to support such investment. 

Page 28



Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and General Fund Budget 2024-25 
 

 
 

• Items where - following support from Government and from Commissioners - specific 
resources are provided to the Council by Government to complete or partially complete 
certain specified schemes that were already in delivery by the various companies owned by 
the Council when the Section 114 Notice was issued. (this is the basis of the business cases 
reported elsewhere on this agenda) 

• Any schemes that can be shown to be wholly funded from external resources without 
implying additional cost burdens for the Council. 

• Where proposals are estimated to return a measurable revenue saving; for example, leasing 
of the Council’s commercial property portfolio which may require modest upfront capital 
investment and which then return a beneficial income stream to the revenue budget. 

• In addition, the programme will include schemes which can be sustainably funded via the 
Housing Revenue Account 

11.3 Potential capitalisation flexibilities including the use of capital receipts to support revenue 
expenditure for service transformation are available and the position will be reviewed in the 
light of the significant changes the Council is expected to deliver. 

11.4 The Treasury Management Strategy will set out the Council’s borrowing requirements and 
strategy, the annual investment strategy, the Treasury and Prudential Indicators and the MRP 
Strategy.  The report will follow the CIPFA requirements and be closely aligned to the 
discussions with government on the nature of the support package likely to be available. 

11.5 The Council’s bankers, Lloyds have a policy for Councils subject to a s114 notice that the 
Executive considers the Council’s continued use of facilities which it has with Lloyds Bank in 
light of the issue of the s114 Notice.  The Executive is required to consider the restrictions 
which the issue of the s114 Notice imposes on the Council and its ability to enter into new 
obligations. The s151 officer can advise Executive that the Banking Facilities are an essential 
part of the Council’s current funding plans, to enable it to continue to provide its statutory 
services and in view of this the Council has the power to enter into and continue to use the 
Banking Facilities. 

12.0 Public Consultation 

12.1 Delivering the proposed savings in the budget will impact the delivery of public services in 
Woking. Where services cannot be self-funded or delivered by other organisations, there is a 
significant likelihood they will be reduced or closed. Public and/or service user/stakeholder 
consultation has been carried out to understand the implications of potential reductions and, 
where possible, seek to mitigate against complete closures for the most valued services. As 
explained above the Finance Working Group (reporting to Overview and Scrutiny Committee) 
will also review business cases and options for the savings in detail. 

12.2 The Council has carried out an extensive consultation to understand resident and stakeholder 
views on its planned service reductions. There were nearly 6,000 respondents to the public 
consultation survey alongside a number of face-to-face meetings with stakeholders and 
community groups directly affected by the proposals. The results of the public consultation are 
being analysed and fed into the development of the Council’s Equalities Impact Assessments 
and detailed options appraisals, which will be considered as part of the budget papers in 
February 2024. 

12.3 As a result of the proposed changes to the service offer, consultation with affected staff and 
UNISON was launched in November 2023. The consultation continues through to January 
2024 and during this time staff have the opportunity to comment on, question and suggest 
alternatives to the proposed structure, JD’s and the selection and assessment process. Staff 
are supported through training opportunities, one to ones, All Staff briefings and team 

Page 29



Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and General Fund Budget 2024-25 
 

 
 

meetings, Frequently Asked Questions which are updated weekly, and a dedicated page on 
the intranet, alongside Trade Union support for those who are members. The staffing structures 
have been designed to align to the proposed service changes; therefore, no final decision will 
be made until the budget has been approved in February.  

13.0 Implications 

Finance and Risk 

13.1 A robust MTFS is a key document in the Council’s financial planning cycle. This document sets 
out the strategic approach that the Council needs to take to deliver the Improvement and 
Recovery Plan (IRP) and respond to the Section 114 Notice, whilst continuing to meet its 
statutory duties. The MTFS is designed to acknowledge and structure approaches that mitigate 
financial risk. 

Equalities and Human Resources 

13.2 In considering the budget, the Council must also consider its ongoing duties under the Equality 
Act 2010 to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination and advance equality of 
opportunity between all irrespective of whether they fall into a protected category such as race, 
sex, religion, etc. Having due regard to these duties does not mean that the Council has an 
absolute obligation to eliminate discrimination but that it must consider how its decisions will 
contribute towards meeting the duties in the light of all other relevant circumstances such as 
economic and practical considerations. 

13.3 It is important that the Council seeks to understand the equalities impacts of proposed service 
changes and any potential mitigations which can be offered. Given the scale and complexity 
of the proposed change required to balance our budget, the Council’s efficiency proposals for 
2024/25 have been analysed to understand positive and negative impacts on both residents 
and staff with protected characteristics, particularly where they may be impacted by multiple 
efficiency proposals.  

13.4 The EqIAs have been developed with the support of an organisation called Local Partnerships, 
as part of our sector support offer from the Local Government Association. Local Partnerships 
have provided external steer and challenge to ensure these important documents are as robust 
as possible. In total 18 EqIAs have been produced with an overall report which will consider 
the cumulative impact of the changes on people with protected characteristics and analyse the 
potential impacts in totality. As part of the EqIA process, the Council also takes impacts on 
non-statutory issues (such as socio-economic status) into consideration, to ensure we take a 
more comprehensive approach to equality. 

13.5 In early January 2024, the Council will hold a EqIA review meeting where a small panel of 
Members will review the draft EqIAs and feed into their development. The final versions will be 
published alongside the budget papers in late January 2024. The information within the EqIA 
reports is intended to ensure that Members are able to pay due regard to the equality 
implications of the proposed budget for 2024/25. 

Legal 

13.6 The Council is still obliged to meet its statutory duties and continue to make decisions in 
accordance with public law principles. The setting of a balanced budget in March 2024 is a 
legal requirement. 

 

REPORT ENDS 
  

Page 30



Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and General Fund Budget 2024-25 
 

 
 

Annex 6 

List of Proposed Savings 
FFtF Savings 3(A)       

     
Source Amount  

2024/25 
£'000 

Amount 
2025/26 

£'000 

Amount 
2026/27 

£'000 

Amount 
2027/28 

£'000 
Comments 

Removal of Grants to External 
Bodies 

686  686  686  686  

The Council has 
historically allocated 
funds each year to 
community groups 
within the borough via 
a grant award 
programme. It is 
proposed that the 
community grants 
programme is 
removed, whilst in-
kind support will 
continue. 

NNDR Discretionary 
Discounts 30  30  30  30    

Gateway Process / Service 
review: Community Centres 
 
Savings proposed through 
moving to a self-funding 
model, with more spaces 
leased out, other community 
providers running the centres 
(including cafes) and day care 
services transferring to extra 
care settings.  

353  353  353  353  

Gateway Process / Service 
review: Translation Service 
and Voluntary Sector Support 
 
Savings proposed through 
staffing reductions, ceasing to 
offer a translation service to 
third party organisations and 
utilising grant funding. 

105  105  105  105  

Gateway Process / Service 
review: Family Services 
 
The full cost of the service 
proposed to be covered by 
funding from Surrey County 
Council. SCC to select a new 
provider of Family Centres 
from 1 April 2024.  

73  73  73  73  

Gateway Process / Service 
review: Sports, Arts 
Development 
(This specifically relates to the 
provision of Sport and Arts 
Development both directly to 
residents but mainly provision 

312  312  312  312  

The recent Gateway 
Process has identified 
a number of service 
redesign and 
organisational 
restructuring savings 
across the Council. 

Page 31



Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and General Fund Budget 2024-25 
 

 
 

for Borough Sports and 
Culture groups.) 
The proposal is to remove 
Council support, co-ordination 
and funding for arts and 
culture, including grants to 
The Lightbox and Dance 
Woking. Alternative funding to 
be investigated with partners. 
Gateway Process / Service 
review: Community Safety 
 Savings proposed through 
staff reductions, with 
resources focussed on the 
provision of the statutory 
community safety action plan 
and any associated actions, 
as well as working with 
partners to reduce crime. 

80  80  80  80  

Gateway Process / Service 
review: Health & Wellbeing  
 
These initial proposed savings 
are expected to be achieved 
through staffing reductions, 
higher fees and charges, 
consolidation of meal service 
and other efficiency savings. 
The service is expected to be 
self-funding with further 
savings expected through 
transfer of social prescribing 
and hospital discharge teams) 
to another council and 
increased funding from 
Health. 

99  99  99  99  

Gateway Process / Service 
review: Housing Options 
 
This is a statutory service. 
However, a proposed saving 
of 1 vacant post has been 
identified. 

43  43  43  43  

Gateway Process / Service 
review: Strategic Housing 
 
 Savings proposed through 
staff reductions, with 
resources focused on the 
statutory elements of service.  

53  53  53  53  

Gateway Process / Service 
review: Neighbourhood 
Services: removal of vacant 
post 

58  58  58  58  

Gateway Process / Service 
review: Planning / Planning 
Policy. Review of staffing levels 
supported by service redesign 
and process improvement. This is 
likely to see the loss of 6 FTE in a 
current establishment of 31 FTE 
across the Planning service.  

228  228  228  228  

Page 32



Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and General Fund Budget 2024-25 
 

 
 

Gateway Process / Service 
review: Building Control. Staff 
resource review in response to 
reduction in income, which is 
forecast to remain at a reduced 
level in the short to medium term.  
 

66  66  66  66  

Gateway Process / Service 
review: Green Infrastructure. 
Review of staffing structure in the 
context of reduction of 
discretionary services offered, 
which will include climate change 
work, play areas and green 
spaces. This could result in a 
reduction from 7 to 4 FTE within 
the service. 

 

171  171  171  171  

Gateway Process / Service 
review: Env Health/Housing 
Standards 
 
The saving identified for this 
service area and licensing 
primarily be staffing which 
could see the reduction of 4 
posts in these service areas. 

93  93  93  93  

Gateway Process / Service 
review: Licensing.  
 

37  37  37  37  

Gateway Process / Service 
review: Business Liaison 
The Council is no longer in a 
position to support the 
business liaison function, 
which is a discretionary 
service. Staff resources are 
being reviewed accordingly 

313  313  313  313  

Gateway Process / Service 
review: Member Services 
 
The Team provide support to 
the Councils Democratic and 
Civic Event services and 
administrative support to the 
Corporate Leadership of the 
Council. 
 
The proposal is to reduce the 
current staffing by 3 full time 
equivalent posts through 
making efficiency savings and 
some reductions to the level of 
support provided. 

153  153  153  153  

  

Page 33



Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and General Fund Budget 2024-25 
 

 
 

MTFS FFTF Savings 3A 
Continued 

     

      
Source Amount  

2024/25 
£'000 

Amount 
2025/26 

£'000 

Amount 
2026/27 

£'000 

Amount 
2027/28 

£'000 
Comments 

Gateway Process / Service 
review: Marketing 
Communications 
 
The Team provide marketing 
and communication support to 
the Council and content 
management support for the 
Council’s website 
 
The proposal is to reduce the 
current staffing by 2 full time 
equivalent posts through making 
efficiency savings and some 
reductions to the level of 
support provided.  

107  107  107  107  

Gateway Process / Service 
review: Human Resources (HR) 
 
The Team provide HR support 
to the Council as employer, 
support for Health and Safety, 
administer the payroll; pension 
contribution; lease car and 
Insurance processes.  
 
The proposal is to reduce the 
current staffing by 3 full time 
equivalent posts through making 
efficiency savings and some 
reductions to the level of 
support provided.  

172  172  172  172  

Gateway Process / Service 
review: Transformation & Digital 
 
The Team provide ICT and 
Transformation and change  
support  
 
The proposal is to undertake a 
whole service redesign in order 
to reflect the development of the 
Council’s IT and Digital strategy  

141  141  141  141  

Gateway Process / Service 
review: Customer 
Services/Revs & Bens 
 
The Team provide first line  
customer service support and 
administer Council tax 
payments and benefits and 
business rates 
 
The proposal is to undertake a 
redesign of how the Council 

291  291  291  291  

The recent Gateway 
Process has identified a 
number of service 
redesign and 
organisational 
restructuring savings 
across the Council. 

Page 34



Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and General Fund Budget 2024-25 
 

 
 

deals with customer enquiries 
and support and provide a 
better digital (online) service 
based on customer needs.  
Debt Management Expenses  

250  250  250  250  

Savings arising from 
suspension of 
Investment Programme 
on grounds of 
affordability. 

Totals 3,914  3,914  3,914  3,914     
     

  

Page 35



Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and General Fund Budget 2024-25 
 

 
 

 
MTFS FFTF Savings 3B       
 

     
Source Amount  

2024/25 
£'000 

Amount 
2025/26 

£'000 

Amount 
2026/27 

£'000 

Amount 
2027/28 

£'000 
Comments 

Leisure Services Savings:  
(This specifically relates to the 
Leisure Partnership Agreement. 
For clarity this includes Pool in 
the Park, Woking Leisure 
Centre, Sportsbox, Eastwood 
Leisure Centre and our Sports 
Pavilions) 
 
  

900  900  900  900  

Savings delivered 
through removal of 
Council subsidy, phased 
closure of Pool in the 
Park and a move 
towards a self-funding 
principle of delivery. 

Forensic Review of Council 
Budgets (Gateway Outcomes) 

750  750  750  750  

Work is underway to 
methodically review all 
Council budgets 
(supplies and services) 
to reduce spend. This 
work is informed by 
service option 
assessments as part of 
the Gateway Review 
Process. 

Organisational Restructure  
To undertake a review of 
leadership and roles in the 
organisation. 0  0  250  250  

As part of the move to a 
'smaller organisation' 
that focuses on core 
services there will be a 
further need to 
streamline management 
and decision making 
arrangements  

Property Services Savings: 
CCTV Contract Review 

72  72  72  72  

Saving resulting from 
reviewing the CCTV 
maintenance 
arrangements and  
moving to a semi-
comprehensive contract. 

Source Amount  
2024/25 

£'000 

Amount 
2025/26 

£'000 

Amount 
2026/27 

£'000 

Amount 
2027/28 

£'000 
Comments 

Property Services Savings: 
CCTV Infrastructure Review 

40  40  40  40  

Delivery of efficiency 
measures in CCTV 
operations, including a 
review of the number and 
location of cameras. 

Property Services Savings: 
FM Efficiencies 

100  100  100  100  

Reprovision the Facilities 
Management contract for 
the Council's operational 
properties. 

Property Services Savings: 
Removal of Public 
Conveniences 203  203  203  203  

The savings resulting 
from the removal of 12 
public conveniences 
across the borough. 

Page 36



Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and General Fund Budget 2024-25 
 

 
 

Property Services Savings: 
Removal of Vacant Posts 

174  174  174  174  

Savings based around 
services changes and 
associated structure 
redesign. 

Property Services Savings: 
Civic Offices Savings 

250  250  250  250  

A series of operation 
changes to deliver 
savings in the running of 
the Civic Offices. 

Grounds Maintenance 
Contract – Retender 

0  1,250  1,250  1,250  

The Grounds 
Maintenance Contract is 
due for renewal in 
2025/26. The scope of the 
contract will be reviewed 
as part of the tender 
process to deliver 
savings. 

Totals 2,489  3,739  3,989  3,989   

 
 

 

 

 
  

Page 37



Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and General Fund Budget 2024-25 
 

 
 

Annex 6..cont 

MTFS FFTF Savings 3C      
Source Amount  

2024/25 
£'000 

Amount 
2025/26 

£'000 

Amount 
2026/27 

£'000 

Amount 
2027/28 

£'000 
Comments 

Neighbourhood Services - In-
Year 

Research 
underway 
through 
Autumn  

2023 

1,000 1,000 1,000 

Discussions are 
underway with the 
Neighbourhood Services 
to identify in-year 
contract savings. 

Micro-Slice Budgets 

35 35 35 35 

A small adjustment from 
all budgets within the 
Council be set aside to 
establish a small General 
Reserve. This is funded 
by taking 0.001 % of 
every budget in the 
Council. 

Procurement (tail spend) and 
Contract Savings 

200 400 0 0 

These savings will be 
achieved through a 
review of off-contract 
spend throughout the 
Council and 
implementing cost 
controls and supplier 
contracts were beneficial. 

Asset/Commercial 
Rationalisation Exercise 

Research 
underway 
through 
Autumn 
 2023 

Researc
h 

underwa
y through 
Autumn  

2023 

Researc
h 

underwa
y through 
Autumn  

2023 

Researc
h 

underwa
y through 
Autumn 
 2023 

Savings arising from a 
full review of Council 
assets and 
implementation of an 
asset disposal / 
commercial strategy. OR 
Interim Property Asset 
Review Approach 

Closure of Civic Offices / 
Move to Smaller Premises Research 

underway 
through 
Autumn 

2023 

Researc
h 

underwa
y through 
Autumn 

2023  

Researc
h 

underwa
y through 
Autumn  

2023  

Researc
h 

underwa
y through 
Autumn 

2023 

The relocation and 
consolidation of Council 
operations to smaller 
premises to deliver value 
for money. Disposal 
strategy will follow in due-
course. 

Lease surrender receipts  
1,900 1,900 1,900 1,900 

Revenue receipts from a 
former lessee following 
early surrender of lease 

Increase in Commercial 
Rents 0 0 700 800 

This reflects current and 
expected market 
operations  

Increase in Fees and 
Charges Beyond 20/10% Research 

underway 
through 
Autumn 

2023 

Researc
h 

underwa
y through 
Autumn 

2023 

Researc
h 

underwa
y through 
Autumn 

2023 

Researc
h 

underwa
y through 
Autumn 

2023 

Income achieved through 
price increases as part of 
the fees and charges 
process to ensure that 
services are self-
sustainable. 

Page 38



Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and General Fund Budget 2024-25 
 

 
 

Shared Services Efficiencies 

0 30 30 30 

Savings delivered 
through sharing services 
with other authorities and 
partner organisations. 

Totals 2,135 3,365 3,665 3,765  

 
 
Total Proposed Saving: 
Collection 

    

Source Amount  
2024/25 

£'m 

Amount 
2025/26 

£'m 

Amount 
2026/27 

£'m 

Amount 
2027/28 

£'m 
MTFS FFTF Savings 3A 3.914  3.914  3.914  3.914  
MTFS FFTF Savings 3B 2.489  3.739  3.989  3.989  
MTFS FFTF Savings 3C 2.135  3.365  3.665  3.765  

Total 8.538  11.018  11.568  11.668  
 
 

Page 39





 

EXE23-060 

 

EXECUTIVE – 14 DECEMBER 2023 

DRAFT HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGET UPDATE 2024-25 

Executive Summary 

This report sets out the current position in preparing the draft Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
budgets for 2024/25, prior to the final report to Council in February 2024.  

Under the Government’s current rent setting regime, social rents should increase by up to CPI+1% 
each year.  The budgeted rents have been prepared on this basis and rents have been increased 
by 7.7% (based on September CPI of 6.7%). 

The report also proposes that a consultation commences on the proposed closure of the Brockhill 
Extra Care Housing scheme. Brockhill requires significant capital expenditure on fire safety remedial 
works and a full heating system replacement. The anticipated total capital expenditure required on 
Brockhill over the next 10 years is forecast to be circa £5.8 million. In addition, whilst Brockhill is a 
much valued and loved facility by residents, the design and layout of the building does not meet the 
current expectations for extra care housing as set out in Surrey County Council’s Accommodation 
with Care and Support Strategy and national best practice. This level of capital investment is 
considered unviable for a building of this age and size. Subject to the consultation, officers will work 
with residents to identify alternative accommodation based on their individual assessed needs and 
their preferences and support them through the moving process. 

There are still a number of uncertainties remaining, including future capital financing requirements 
and the Government’s rent setting approach, that will influence the final budgets. However, early 
indications are that the HRA will be in balance next year with an estimated surplus of circa £1 million 
that could be invested back into much needed capital improvements to HRA stock. This would be 
an important step towards the longer term stability of the HRA. 

Recommendations 

The Executive is requested to: 

RESOLVE That        

(i) progress in preparing the draft Housing Revenue Account 
budgets for 2024/25 be noted;  

(ii) Managers, Corporate Leadership Team and Portfolio Holders 
continue detailed budget preparation for consideration by the 
Executive in February 2024; and 

(iii) the Council commences consultation with residents, their families 
and other stakeholders on the proposed closure of Brockhill Extra 
Care Housing scheme. 

Reasons for Decision 

Reason: Consideration of these proposals will enable the preparation of 
the Council’s Housing Revenue Account budgets for 2024/25 to 
proceed. 

The Executive has the authority to determine the recommendation(s) set out above. 

Page 41

Agenda Item 8.



Draft Housing Revenue Account Budget Update 2024-25 
 

 
 

Background Papers: None. 
 
Reporting Person: Louise Strongitharm, Strategic Director - Communities 
 Email: louise.strongitharm@woking.gov.uk, Extn: 3599  
 Eugene Walker, Interim Finance Director & Section 151 Officer 
 Email: eugene.walker@woking.gov.uk, Extn: 3070 
 
Contact Person: Simon Price, Interim Head of Housing 
 Email: simon.price@woking.gov.uk 

 Nicola Regis, Interim Deputy Director of Finance 
 Email: nicola.regis@woking.gov.uk 
  
 

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Ian Johnson 
 Email: cllrian.johnson@woking.gov.uk 
 Councillor Dale Roberts 
 Email: cllrdale.roberts@woking.gov.uk 
 
Date Published: 6 December 2023 
 

  

Page 42



Draft Housing Revenue Account Budget Update 2024-25 
 

 
 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 This paper sets out the progress made to date in preparing the Council’s draft Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA) budgets for 2024/25. 

1.2 Explanations of the changes and pressures within the different elements of the budget are set 
out in the sections below.   

1.3 Further to the HRA Recovery Plan report to Council in July 2023, early indications are that the 
HRA will be in balance next year with an estimated surplus of circa £1 million that could be 
invested back into much needed capital improvements to HRA stock. This would be an 
important step towards the longer term stability of the HRA. 

2.0 Forecast Outturn 

2.1 Adjustments to the revised estimates for 2023/24 have been made to reflect variations 
identified during the year to date. 

2.2 The Quarter 2 Budget monitoring for 2023/24 showed a forecast increase in the HRA deficit 
for the year, from a budgeted £1,336,000 deficit to a forecast £2,306,000 deficit, a worsening 
in the deficit (overspend) of £970,000.   

2.3 Work is almost complete reviewing the charges being made to the HRA for staffing, support 
services and other costs to ensure that they are fair and reasonable for last year, this year and 
moving forward. The work to date is highlighting an overcharge to the HRA for staffing and 
support services which will need rectifying in 2023/24. 

2.4 However, with the anticipated adjustment to the central recharges to the HRA, the forecast 
HRA outturn for 2023/24 is expected to be close to the budgeted deficit of £1.3 million. 

3.0 Approach to Budget Setting 2024/25 

Assumptions 

3.1 The draft budgets covered in this paper do not reflect any additional borrowing that may be 
required to support next year’s Investment Programme and in particular the Housing Annual 
Maintenance Plan. 

3.2 During the course of 2023/24, a review of recharge allocations has been undertaken to ensure 
that they are fair and reasonable to the HRA. The assumptions for 2024/25 includes these 
adjusted recharge assumptions. The allocation will be reviewed for the final budget to ensure 
the apportionment reflects the current structure. Inflation in staff costs have not been 
considered while preparing the draft budgets. 

3.3 Housing and Finance will be updating the 30-year HRA Business Plan as part of the budget 
setting process. This will involve a review of the current year assumptions on income and 
expenditure, the development of MTFS budgets using the latest CPI inflation rate, stock 
condition survey data and latest contractual agreements. This will also involve the 
development of growth and savings assumptions for updating revenue and capital expenditure 
budgets for the 30-year period. The exercise will involve completing scenario planning and 
stress testing of all options considered. 

4.0 Rents and Other Charges 

4.1 The rent increase is based on current CPI+1% limit on annual rent increases in line with the 
Government Rent Standard. The budgeted rents have been prepared on this basis and rents 
have been increased by 7.7% (based on September CPI of 6.7%). 

Page 43



Draft Housing Revenue Account Budget Update 2024-25 
 

 
 

4.2 It should be noted that in light of the cost of living crisis and high inflation rate, the Government 
imposed a ceiling on rent increases of 7% from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024. No 
announcements have been made on the Government’s intended approach to rent setting for 
2024/25, but there remains a risk that rent increases may be capped again next year. 

4.3 In 2024/25, there are fifty-three rent weeks, the extra one week will generate additional rent in 
the region of £347,000. 

4.4 Total rental income is forecast to increase by circa £1.6 million in 2024/25 to circa £20,343,000. 

Recovery of Charges 

4.5 Service charges, including energy charges, are based on the cost of the service being 
provided.  The Section 151 Officer has delegated authority to vary service charges in line with 
external factors. 

4.6 Energy charges are levied on a per block basis based on cost.  This allows energy costs to be 
recharged to tenants on a more detailed basis.  

4.7 The assumption is that any housing-related support charges cover the cost of this service. A 
number of these were considered in the Fees and Charges report to Council in November 
2023. 

Implementation Date 

4.8 The new rents will be applied from the first Monday in April (i.e. 1 April 2024).   

5.0 Prudential Borrowing 

5.1 HRA interest charges for pre 2016/17 borrowing are fixed at the Council’s average borrowing 
rate on 31 March 2016.  HRA borrowing from April 2017 onwards are charged at the annual 
average 50-year PWLB borrowing rate.  This ensures that General Fund investment decisions 
made by the Council do not impact the HRA. 

5.2 The updated forecast for HRA interest costs is £5,612,000 in 2024/25.  

5.3 The 2024/25 Draft Budget makes no allowance for repayment of the debt taken on for Self-
Financing or for the repayment of the borrowing relating to any new build developments or 
acquisitions completed up to 2023/24. The borrowing relates to long life assets which are fully 
maintained. 

5.4 Work is ongoing to understand the required capital budgets for the Council’s Housing Annual 
Maintenance Plan in 2024/25 given the known issues regarding the poor state of our existing 
housing stock. This may require additional HRA borrowing, which is not currently factored in 
to the draft HRA budget for 2024/25.  

6.0 Robustness of the Budget and Risks 

6.1 It is important to consider the robustness of the budget and the adequacy of reserves for the 
purpose of maintaining the financial health of the Housing Revenue Account.  The key risks 
are set out in the following paragraphs. 

HRA New Build Developments 

6.2 The draft HRA budget assumes there are no HRA new build developments during 2024/25. 

 

Page 44



Draft Housing Revenue Account Budget Update 2024-25 
 

 
 

Repairs, Maintenance, and Management and Contractual Inflation  

6.3 Housing Services were brought in house from 1 April 2022. The Council has recently 
commenced a new contract for the provision of gas servicing and repairs and is currently 
procuring a new responsive repairs contractor to commence 28 March 2024. Therefore, the 
cost forecasts for 2024/25 are based on assumptions. 

6.4 The total budget for repairs and compliance for 2024/25 is forecast at £3,823,000. 

Major Repairs Contribution 

6.5 As per the 1 April 2017 Item 8 Determination, depreciation is to be charged to the HRA with 
effect from 1 April 2017 in accordance with proper accounting practices.  The depreciation 
replaces the Major Repairs Contribution and is transferred to the Major Repairs Reserve to be 
used on capital works to the stock or repaying debt.  HRA depreciation is calculated by dividing 
the total asset value of Council Dwellings by their average useful economic life.  Based on the 
31 March 2023 asset value, the depreciation amount is estimated to be £4,196,000 in 2024/25. 
The depreciation will contribute towards the Annual Maintenance Plan for 2024-25, including 
capitalised staff costs. 

Sheerwater Regeneration 

6.6 Under the Sheerwater Regeneration project, approximately 426 HRA dwellings were due to be 
demolished.  This placed considerable pressure on the HRA due to the loss of income and 
ongoing costs of maintaining empty homes. 

6.7 In October 2023, the Council agreed to retain and refurbish circa 100 HRA homes. These will 
generate extra income of around £650,000 to the HRA once they are all occupied. As the 
timescales for bringing homes back into use are still unknown, rental income for 2024/25 
assumes that occupancy will remain at 56 for 2024/25.  

Reserves and Balances 

6.8 With the adjustments to previous budgets for recharges, the balance on the HIP Reserve is 
forecast to be £830,000 on 31 March 2024 and £1,940,000 on 31 March 2025. Rebuilding 
reserves is an important step towards the longer term stability of the HRA. 

7.0 Brockhill Extra Care 

7.1 Brockhill Extra Care Housing is a purpose-built two-storey scheme, constructed during the late 
1980s. The scheme provides 48 extra care apartments over 2 floors, along with a communal 
lounge, dining room, kitchen and reception/staff/office areas. The Council provides a dedicated 
support team at Brockhill, whilst Surrey County Council commissions a care provider to provide 
individual care packages to residents who need it. The scheme is very popular with older 
residents in the Borough for its homely setting and operates with a waiting list.  

7.2 Over the years, the structure of the building appears to have had limited investment with only 
minor investment internally. As a result of it age and lack of ongoing investment, the building 
needs major capital works over the next 2 years and beyond.  

7.3 The communal boiler serving the scheme failed last December causing considerable 
inconvenience and discomfort to residents and staff. The communal boiler was found to be 
beyond repair. Furthermore, the heating infrastructure throughout the building is aged and in 
poor condition and the whole heating system requires upgrading and renewing. The scheme 
is currently being served by a temporary boiler, which is not a long-term solution.  

Page 45



Draft Housing Revenue Account Budget Update 2024-25 
 

 
 

7.4 In February 2023, the Council received an updated Fire Risk Assessment for the building that 
identified that significant improvements were needed, including replacing fire doors and frames 
and compartmentation works. The combination of the building defects and the vulnerability of 
the residents means there are high risks around the fire safety of the scheme. In order to 
mitigate these risks, the Council has implemented a number of interim measures, including 
introducing a Waking Watch, switching from a Stay Put to an Evacuation Policy, freezing new 
lettings and upgrading the fire detection system. Where possible, the Council has sought to 
relocate residents from the first floor to the ground floor to aid evacuation. As a result of the 
decision to freeze any new lettings, the occupancy level at Brockhill has dropped to 68%.  

7.5 The urgent heating upgrade and Fire Safety Works have been tendered with the combined 
cost being circa £2.75 million over the next year. The building is expected to require other 
planned works over the next 5 years, forecast at a further circa £600,000.   

7.6 Many other building elements are original and are deteriorating consistent with their anticipated 
lifecycle expectancy. Over the next 5 -10 years, building components, such as, rainwater 
fittings, roofing, external joinery, paths/hardstanding, common electrical elements, and floor 
coverings, are expected to need investment. The anticipated total capital expenditure required 
on Brockhill over the next 10 years is forecast to be circa £5.8 million, including design and 
professional fees, inflation, preliminaries and contingency.  

7.7 In July 2019, Surrey County Council (SCC) approved an Accommodation with Care and 
Support Strategy and committed to a major programme within the strategy to deliver 725 units 
of affordable Extra Care Housing for older people by 2030. Any decision around Brockhill will 
have implications for the delivery of this strategy, along with potentially placing additional cost 
pressures on adult social care budgets. Accordingly, the Council initiated discussions with 
officers at SCC in the summer regarding the future of Brockhill, which included a site 
inspection.  

7.8 The engagement with SCC officers has been productive and positive, including validating the 
extent of the capital works required at Brockhill. In addition, whilst Brockhill is a much valued 
and loved facility by residents, the discussions concluded that the design and layout of the 
building does not meet the current expectations for extra care housing as set out in SCC’s 
strategy and national best practice. 

7.9 Sadly, all of the discussions and investigations point to the conclusion that the building is 
becoming obsolete with the level of capital investment required over the next 10 years being 
unviable (in the context of the age and size of the scheme).  

7.10 This report seeks approval to commence consultation on the proposed closure of Brockhill. 
Under Section 105 of the Housing Act 1985 the Council has a legal obligation to consult its 
secure tenants on ‘matters of housing management’ such as changes to the management, 
maintenance, improvement or demolition of houses let by them, or changes in the provision of 
amenities. Given the current building condition and the associated risks, it is proposed that the 
consultation commences as soon as possible and runs for a minimum of 30 days. 

7.11 The Council acknowledges that this will be difficult and upsetting for people living and working 
Brockhill, as well as the families of residents living there. However, this consultation is 
necessary because of the issues with the building, which is no longer fit for purpose. If closure 
is agreed, the identification of alternative accommodation for individuals currently living at 
Brockhill would be based on their individual assessed needs and their preferences. This will 
be done in close dialogue with colleagues in SCC Adult Social Care. 

7.12 We have already begun moving some residents, who in the event of a fire, could not evacuate 
safely without assistance, as it is becoming apparent that Brockhill is no longer a safe and 
suitable place for residents to live. 

Page 46



Draft Housing Revenue Account Budget Update 2024-25 
 

 
 

8.0 Conclusion 

8.1 As detailed in the report, it is estimated that the Council will be able to set a balanced HRA 
budget for 2024/25 with an estimated amount in the region of £1 million being transferred from 
the HRA into reserves. This could be invested back into much needed capital improvements 
to HRA stock and is an important step towards the longer term stability of the HRA. 

8.2 There are still a number of uncertainties remaining, including future capital financing 
requirements and the Government’s rent setting approach, that will influence the final budgets. 

8.3 The next steps required to set the 2024/25 HRA budget include: 

• Continuing to refine the budget assumptions, particularly around the capital programme 
funding requirements. 

• Monitoring Government announcements in terms of rent setting. 

• Commissioning the 30-year HRA Business Plan. 

• Completing the procurement for a new repairs contractor and making any adjustments 
to budget assumptions. 

9.0 Corporate Strategy 

9.1 The report sets out the draft budgets for managing and maintaining the Council’s housing stock 
during 2024/25.  Provision of housing is a key priority within the Council’s Corporate Plan. 

10.0 Implications 

Finance and Risk 

10.1 The financial implications are explicit in the report. 

10.2 Specific risks have also been set out in the report. 

Equalities and Human Resources 

10.3 An Equalities Impact Assessment will be completed prior to any decisions being taken on the 
future of Brockhill. 

Legal 

10.4 None identified at this time. 

11.0 Engagement and Consultation  

11.1 Under Section 105 of the Housing Act 1985 the Council has a legal obligation to consult its 
secure tenants on ‘matters of housing management’ such as changes to the management, 
maintenance, improvement or demolition of houses let by them, or changes in the provision of 
amenities.  

11.2 It is proposed that a consultation commences as soon as possible on the future of Brockhill 
and runs for a minimum of 30 days. 

REPORT ENDS 
 

Page 47





 

EXE23-085 

 

EXECUTIVE – 14 DECEMBER 2023 

UPDATE TO IMPROVEMENT AND RECOVERY PLAN 

Executive Summary 

The Improvement and Recovery Plan was adopted by Council in August 2023 and outlines the 
activity required to address the Government Directions as set out in the intervention in June 2023. 
The Plan includes four themes – Financial Recovery; Commercial; Governance and Assurance; and 
Organisation and Service Redesign. This report outlines the proposal to include a fifth theme which 
will incorporate the Housing Improvement Programme, recognising the need for increased strategic 
oversight of this work. 

Recommendations 

The Executive is requested to: 

RESOLVE That        

the Housing Improvement Programme be incorporated into the 
Improvement and Recovery Plan as the fifth theme. 

 

Reasons for Decision 

Reason: The strategic importance of the programme requires this 
additional focus. There are interdependencies with the existing 
themes that require management across the programme in its 
entirety. 

 
 

The Executive has the authority to determine the recommendation(s) set out above. 

 

Background Papers: None. 
 
Reporting Person: Julie Fisher, Chief Executive 
 Email: julie.fisher@woking.gov.uk , Extn: 3333 

 
Contact Person: Lee Danson, Senior Programme Manager  
 Email: lee.danson@woking.gov.uk  

 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Ann-Marie Barker 
 Email: cllrann-marie.barker@woking.gov.uk 

 
Date Published: 6 December 2023 
 

Page 49

Agenda Item 9.



Update to Improvement and Recovery Plan 
 

 
 

  

Page 50



Update to Improvement and Recovery Plan 
 

 
 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 There are a number of improvement initiatives underway within the Housing service that is part 
of the Communities Directorate. A significant programme is being developed to ensure the 
Council’s housing stock meets required standards. 

1.2 Due to the need for significant improvements to the housing stock to meet the required 
standards, officers self-referred to the Regulator of Social Housing (RSH) in July 2023. Plans 
were immediately initiated to work on the required improvements. RSH is an executive non-
departmental public body, sponsored by the Department for Levelling Up Housing and 
Communities Regulator of Social Housing - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk). 

1.3 The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Recovery Plan that was reported to the 13 July 2023 
meeting of the Executive referenced that it will be necessary for the Council to self-refer to the 
Regulator for Social Housing as it will not be able to maintain its properties to the Decent 
Homes standard. 

1.4 A more programmatic approach is now required to ensure the various streams of activity are 
prioritised accordingly, properly resourced and that there is sufficient strategic oversight. A 
programme manager has been recruited to drive and co-ordinate this work. 

1.5 To ensure that housing improvement is given the strategic focus and visibility that it needs, it 
is proposed that the Housing Improvement Programme is included in the IRP going forward. 
This programme of work will address all aspects of housing management and incorporate the 
work needed to create a 30-year HRA business plan.   

2.0 Housing Improvement Programme 

2.1 The scope of the activity to be brought into the IRP is set out below. This is the initial scope 
and the exact format and shape of the workstreams will be developed over the coming weeks. 

2.2 Building safety to deliver a programme of fire safety remedial works and associated projects, 
including compliance with carbon monoxide (CO) and smoke detection across the stock and a 
performance dashboard for all compliance areas. 

2.3 Service Improvement which includes procuring and mobilising a new repairs contract; the 
Sheerwater refurbishment programme; the development of a detailed asset management 
strategy, including the decent homes programme; a review of compliance against the Rent 
Standard and other Regulatory Standards; a strategic and delivery approach to tackling damp 
and mould; and oversight, performance, and project management around voids, decants, 
returns to use, decommissioning and disposals. 

2.4 Resident engagement and consultation which includes the implementation of Tenant 
Satisfaction Measures by 31 March 2024; a coordinated approach to resident engagement, 
delivering core activity required to meet the Tenant Involvement and Empowerment Standard 
alongside bespoke engagement to support the effective delivery of the fire safety remedial 
works and decent homes programme; and a detailed programme of service improvements. 

2.5 Tools and ways of working which will deliver the housing system upgrade, to monitor activity 
and compliance for fire safety, and medium to long term tools to support and deliver high quality 
asset management. This will also include a programme of policy and process review to ensure 
the regulatory standards are met and service delivery has a customer focus, and channel shift 
for frequent housing requests (repairs, online application for housing) and improvements to 
online information for residents, including fire safety. 

Page 51

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/regulator-of-social-housing


Update to Improvement and Recovery Plan 
 

 
 

2.6 Culture change which will deliver a new culture and ways of working for the housing service, 
with staff aligned and focussed on strong customer service values and high quality delivery of 
core functions. 

2.7 Insights and data will include management data and insight to support delivery of service 
improvements detailed above, with a focus on asset management; data to inform the 
development of a 30-year Housing Revenue Account Business Plan, including an updated 
stock condition survey and associated programme of works. 

2.8 The work to deliver a balanced Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and a 30-year HRA business 
plan is already underway and included within the IRP within the Financial Recovery theme. 

3.0 Change control 

3.1 The Improvement and Recovery Plan was approved by Council in August 2023. As part of the 
decision to adopt the IRP, it was also agreed that the Executive will be required to approve 
any fundamental changes and updates to the IRP. 

3.2 The proposal to include Housing Improvement Programme as a new theme represents a 
significant addition. The Executive is therefore asked to approve the addition of the programme 
as set out in section two above. 

4.0 Next steps 

4.1 The programme structure will be developed and projects will be prioritised. Senior leaders will 
be brought together to share and shape the transformation programme and identify where 
resource gaps exist. 

5.0 Corporate Strategy  

5.1 The deliverables set out in the Housing Improvement Programme and the IRP will achieve 
long-term sustainable improvements in how the Council operates, ensuring it is able to take 
effective decisions focused on improving outcomes for residents. This impacts on the Council’s 
ability to deliver its Corporate Plan, which will have its objectives and actions revised. 

6.0 Implications 

Finance and Risk 

6.1 If the Council fails to take appropriate action to meet the requirements set out in the 
Government Direction, or if the Commissioners appointed by the Secretary of State do not 
have sufficient confidence that appropriate actions are being taken to implement and sustain 
the required improvements, then the Council risks not having appropriate arrangements in 
place to comply with its best value duty under Part 1 of the Local Government Act 1999. This 
could lead to further Government intervention, increased costs and damage to reputation. 

6.2 An IRP Risk Register will be maintained which will underpin the Council’s Strategic Risk 
Register. This will be reported monthly to CLT and to the Informal Executive. 

Equalities and Human Resources 

6.3 The transformation of the Housing Service may lead to staffing changes and could lead to 
changes in service provision. In this scenario, Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs) will be 
developed where appropriate to describe the implications of the proposed changes along with 
mitigations. 

 

Page 52



Update to Improvement and Recovery Plan 
 

 
 

Legal 

6.4 This report has been reviewed by Legal Services who have raised no issues other than those 
addressed elsewhere in this report.  

7.0 Engagement and Consultation  

7.1 This programme will include a workstream for Resident engagement and consultation as 
described in section two. 

REPORT ENDS 
 

 

Page 53





 

EXE23-081 

 

EXECUTIVE – 14 DECEMBER 2023 

ASSET DISPOSAL 

Executive Summary 

This report sets out the proposal for the sale of the freehold interest in the front (north) building of 
CMS House, 45 Poole Road.  

Under Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972, Woking Borough Council has a duty not to 
dispose of land for a consideration less than the best that can be reasonably obtained.  This would 
typically (but not necessarily) involve a full marketing process to ensure that the maximum value 
achievable in the market is secured. However, in cases where there is a “Special Purchaser” which 
is able to make a more attractive offer than can be secured in the open market, a full marketing 
process is not required. 

In this case, the proposed sale achieves best value/best consideration for the site, and is in line with 
Market Value estimated by a Red Book valuation. 

The Purchaser is a ‘Special Purchaser’, as it is an existing tenant of the Council’s Goldsworth Road 
Industrial Estate. The proposed disposal will facilitate the relocation of this tenant, which will enable 
the redevelopment of the Goldsworth Road Industrial Estate. The redevelopment of this Estate will 
substantially improve the Council’s financial position.  

The Purchaser has a relocation clause in its existing lease at Goldsworth Road Industrial Estate, 
which means that relocating them is necessary in order to get vacant possession of their unit.  
Relocation to CMS House is the only feasible option.   This will fulfil the terms of the relocation clause 
and enable the Estate to be redeveloped.  

The Commercial Protocol has been consulted in respect of the decision making process to apply to 
this disposal. The Protocol has been created to provide guidance to the Council’s decision making 
processes. The disposal meets a number of Guiding Principles within the Protocol include No 11, “to 
maximise receipts from all funding streams including…over the period of the MTFS”.   

The benefits of this proposed sale are largely commercial and financial, by generating a capital 
receipt and improving Goldsworth Road Industrial Estate’s asset value. But there is also the social 
benefit of relocating a successful small local business and enabling the redevelopment of an 
industrial estate which will provide much needed space for industrial businesses including small 
businesses. The main environmental benefit is that the redevelopment of this industrial estate is 
required due to the poor energy efficiency of the existing estate, therefore this sale will help enable 
the delivery of more energy efficient, more sustainable industrial space. 

 

Recommendations 

The Executive is requested to: 

RESOLVE That        

the Council dispose of the freehold interest in the front (north) building 
of CMS House, 45 Poole Road. 

 

Page 55

Agenda Item 10.



Asset Disposal 
 

 
 

 

Reasons for Decision 

Reason: This disposal of the front building of CMS House will generate a 
capital receipt that is supported by a Red Book valuation and 
should enable the progression of a redevelopment scheme at 
Goldsworth Road Industrial Estate by relocating an existing 
occupier to CMS House. 

 
 

The Executive has the authority to determine the recommendation(s) set out above. 

 

 

Background Papers: None. 
 
Reporting Person: Kevin Foster, Strategic Director – Corporate Resources 
 Email: kevin.foster@woking.gov.uk, Extn: 3198  
 
Contact Person: David Loveless, Head of Property 
 Email: david.loveless@woking.gov.uk, Extn: 3554  
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Dale Roberts 
 Email: cllrdale.roberts@woking.gov.uk 
 
Date Published: 6 December 2023 
 

  

Page 56



Asset Disposal 
 

 
 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 This report seeks approval to sell the freehold interest in the front (north) building of CMS 
House. It is proposed that the rear (south) building be retained by the Council for the time 
being. 

1.2 CMS House has a floor area (gross internal area) of 9,148 sq ft, and was recently occupied by 
CMS Carpets but is now vacant.  It is comprised of two buildings which were merged together 
by CMS Carpets.  The rear (south) building is 2,205 sq ft (gross internal area) and is shown in 
Appendix A as the area south of the pink line; and the front (north) building is 7,015 sq ft (gross 
internal area) and is to the north of the pink line. 

1.3 This report sets out the background information on CMS House, and the process undertaken 
to reach an agreed price to sell part of the building to the Purchaser. It also outlines the other 
options that have been considered, as alternatives to disposing of part of the property to this 
specific purchaser. 

2.0 Background and Current Position 

2.1 The Council acquired the freehold of the entire CMS House property on 5th October 2018 for 
£1.87m. 

2.2 CMS Carpets vacated the property in 2023, and it is now vacant with substantial empty 
property rates liabilities of £52,224 per annum.  A substantial amount of refurbishment and 
repairs are required to the whole of CMS House to bring it up to a good condition. 

3.0 Proposed Disposal 

3.1 Under Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has a duty not to dispose 
of land for a consideration less than the best that can be reasonably obtained (‘Best Value/Best 
Consideration’). In this case, the agreed disposal will be in line with the Market Value of the 
site as determined by a Red Book valuation.  

3.2 In accordance with Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972, Local Authorities are 
required to secure “Best Consideration” when disposing of property assets.  This would 
typically (but not necessarily) involve a full marketing process to ensure that the maximum 
value achievable in the market is secured. However, in cases where there is a “Special 
Purchaser” which is able to make a more attractive offer than can be secured in the open 
market, a full marketing process is not required. 

3.3 Case law, e.g. (R (Midlands Co Operative) v Birmingham CC [2012] EWHC 620), has 
established that Councils have a duty to achieve an outcome not conduct a process, thus 
different processes are acceptable provided the outcome (securing Best Consideration) is 
achieved based on proper professional advice.   

3.4 In this case, the Purchaser is a “Special Purchaser” because they have a relocation clause in 
their lease at Goldsworth Road Industrial Estate, which requires the Council to relocate them 
to new facilities on “no less favourable terms” than their existing lease. This is a highly onerous 
clause for the Council as landlord, and will be difficult to fulfil (without CMS House) as property 
searches of the Council’s commercial estate and the wider market have shown that there are 
no suitable alternatives.   

3.5 The relatively low rent and favourable lease terms of the Purchaser’s existing tenancy, gives 
them little incentive to vacate, and puts them in a strong negotiating position.  

3.6 It is essential that the Purchaser is relocated from Goldsworth Road Industrial Estate. A 
planning application for a light-industrial redevelopment of this Estate was submitted on 12th 

Page 57



Asset Disposal 
 

 
 

May 2023. This redevelopment is urgent, due to the age of the existing buildings and their poor 
condition. As a result of Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards, by 2026 some of the units will 
not be legally lettable, due to their poor EPC ratings, and it is not cost effective to 
refurbish/upgrade the existing buildings – as confirmed by consultancy advice from Vail 
Williams and BNP Paribas. 

3.7 Based on discussions with industrial agents, any industrial developers looking to purchase the 
Goldsworth Road Industrial Estate will require vacant possession of the Estate as a condition 
of exchange, or at the very least the assurance that vacant possession can easily be achieved. 
Therefore, it is imperative that the Council relocates the Purchaser (or removes their relocation 
clause and Security of Tenure), otherwise the Council will not be able to redevelop the Estate 
and will not realistically be able to sell it at an acceptable price. 

3.8 The Goldsworth Road Industrial Estate planning application PLAN/2023/0440 was refused by 
the Planning Committee on 5th September 2023. It proposed demolition of the entire Estate 
and redevelopment of 12 industrial units to provide light-industrial and storage facilities.  The 
only Reason for Refusal was loss of B2 Use Class units for car repair use. The scheme has 
now been revised to fully address the Reason for Refusal by providing three B2 units, and has 
been resubmitted under PLAN/2023/0875 (validated on 2nd November). The Planning Officer 
is confident that approval will be secured for this revised scheme.  

3.9 A full marketing exercise has not been undertaken for the sale of CMS House. But another 
offer has been received, which is at a lower level than has been agreed with the Purchaser.  It 
is not expected that a sale of the entire CMS House site would exceed its Red Book valuation. 

3.10 The two buildings at CMS House will be split at the Council’s cost. The rear building will either 
be retained by the Council as an investment property and rented, or sold to an investor.  Hurst 
Warne have advised that the rear building is likely to be attractive to the market as a storage 
or light-industrial unit, and will benefit from its excellent location near the town centre.  

3.11 The Council could refurbish and upgrade the 2,205 sq ft rear building in order to maximise 
achievable rents.  This will also include removing the boarding from the windows, repairing the 
windows, and fitting the unit out with toilets and a kitchenette.  The Council’s building surveyors 
have established that the rear building has its own electricity supply, but other services, 
including water and gas, will need to be reinstated.  

3.12 In conclusion, the Red Book valuation (dated 4th May 2023) by Hurst Warne has demonstrated 
that the proposed disposal price for the front building of CMS House matches its Market Value. 
In addition, in view of the “Special Purchaser” status of the Purchaser, and the large financial 
benefits to the Council of relocating them from Goldsworth Road Industrial Estate, it is clear 
that this is the “Best Consideration” which maximises overall financial benefits for the Council. 

4.0 Alternative Options 

4.1 Alternative options for CMS House have been considered, and are summarised below: 

• Sell the whole of CMS House - the Purchaser does not require the rear building of CMS 
House.  The front building will provide them with sufficient ancillary storage space to 
support their retail space, therefore they are unable to make an offer for the whole of 
CMS House that would be commercially attractive to the Council and meet (or exceed) 
the Red Book valuation. 

It is not expected that a sale of the entire CMS House site in the open market, following 
a full marketing process, would exceed its Red Book valuation. 

 

Page 58



Asset Disposal 
 

 
 

• Rent the whole of CMS House – the Market Rent of the property is estimated within 
Hurst Warne’s May 2023 Red Book valuation. This expected level of rent represents 
an annual return, expressed as a percentage of the agreed purchase price, that is not 
sufficient to make renting a more attractive option to the Council than a sale. In addition, 
the added benefits of a sale specifically to the agreed Purchaser, make this a much 
more attractive option than letting the whole building.  

The Purchaser initially considered renting the front building of CMS House rather than 
renting it, but this is no longer their position, and they have a strong preference for 
purchasing the freehold.  

• Relocate the Purchaser to alternative accommodation - the lack of other suitable, 
affordable retail warehouse units in the Woking area, makes it very unlikely that 
alternative accommodation can be found. Therefore, without CMS House, it is unlikely 
that the Council will be able to relocate the Purchaser, which will prevent Goldsworth 
Industrial Estate being redeveloped by Council and/or prevent its sale to an industrial 
developer. 

The Purchaser has been offered other vacant units within the Council’s portfolio, but 
none of these are suitable. The Purchaser’s highly localised customer base limits how 
far they can move, and they have specific space and parking requirements which 
means that the other alternative units are unsuited. 

• Sell CMS House in the open market as retail investment – it has been considered 
whether a sale in the open market, following a full marketing process, would generate 
more financial benefits to the Council. Given that the Purchaser is paying the full Market 
Value for the front building, in line with the Red Book valuation, a significantly higher 
purchase price cannot be expected in the open market, and would also have the 
downside that it would significantly delay the sale – thus prolonging the high void costs 
being incurred by the Council for this vacant building. And the failure to relocate the 
Purchaser from their existing unit at Goldsworth Road Industrial Estate, which is 
necessary to enable redevelopment of this Estate, will result in a major opportunity cost 
by limiting the development potential and asset value of the Estate.  

Failure to redevelop the Goldsworth Road Industrial Estate, will cost the Council 
hundreds of thousands of pounds a year in lost net revenues and/or will prevent a sale 
of the Estate which is expected to generate a substantial capital receipt. 

• Negotiate a cash settlement to vacate the purchaser from their existing unit - the 
alternative to relocating the Purchaser from their existing unit via the CMS House deal, 
would be a cash settlement to release the Council from the obligations of the relocation 
clause and statutory Security of Tenure, which would mean that the Purchaser would 
need to find their own alternative accommodation. Following discussions with the 
Purchaser, this is an unattractive option for them, due to the limited alternative 
accommodation locally, thus they were not willing to negotiate a settlement.  Even if 
they were to agree in the future to commence negotiations, any notional cash 
settlement is likely to be far too high to be a feasible and financially attractive option for 
the Council. 

• Alternative uses – the potential to achieve a higher asset value from an alternative use 
has been considered. Commercial uses on the site are protected via the Local Plan. It 
is an Employment Area under Site Allocation UA14 (Butts Rd/Poole Rd), which 
however does earmark the site for “potentially an element of residential use”.  A land 
valuation of a hypothetical residential-led redevelopment of the site has been prepared.  

Page 59



Asset Disposal 
 

 
 

The option of a residential-led redevelopment by the Council (or sale by the Council to 
a residential developer) of the whole CMS House site has been considered. It has been 
concluded that this option is very unlikely to generate a significantly higher land value 
than the Market Value of the CMS House in its existing use. In addition, a 
redevelopment proposal would take a long time to prepare and design, and it is 
uncertain what type of scheme would be accepted by planning officers – thus in terms 
of risk and timescales, redevelopment is less attractive than a sale for continued retail 
use. 

The alternative of a wider residential-led development – including the neighbouring land 
to the west – has been considered. This would likely deliver a better quality, more 
valuable residential development, but would be more complex and would require costly 
land assembly (including the land currently occupied by Kendall Cars), thus does not 
appear to be a financially attractive option for the Council. 

An overage payment has agreed based on the potential uplift in site value as a result 
of securing a planning consent for a mixed-use, residential-led development. Based on 
initial valuations, it appears that the uplift in site value over the existing use is likely to 
be modest, thus a relatively small overage payment has been proposed, in order to not 
restrict the development potential of the site. In any case, the Purchaser has no 
intention of redevelopment and intends to trade from the property under its existing 
retail-warehouse use.  

There is considerable uncertainty over development potential, including the number of 
storeys that would be permitted. Based on nearby planning applications, up to around 
6 storeys would likely be able to secure planning consent. Another issue is that the Site 
Allocation requires that any redevelopment incorporates retail or employment uses, 
which complicates residential-led development and constrains achievable land values. 

5.0 Corporate Strategy  

5.1 The proposal to sell part of CMS House contributes to a number of Objectives in the Corporate 
Plan (2021/22), including the following “Place” Objectives: 1) “promoting a strong economy”, 
by re-accommodating a local business and enabling the redevelopment of an obsolete 
industrial estate; 2) sustainable development, by enabling the delivery of modern industrial 
units to replace units that fall below Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards.  In addition, it 
contributes to the “Us” Objective of ensuring an “Effective Use of Resources” by maximising 
the value of the Council’s assets. 

5.2 The Corporate Plan (2021/22) has been followed by the Woking for all supplementary priorities 
(2022-2027) strategy, and the proposed sales meets a number of this strategy’s objectives, 
including encouraging a “A high performing council” by helping to “Get the Council’s finances 
under control” and “Consider new approaches to increase income”. 

6.0 Implications 

Finance and Risk 

6.1 No major risks identified. 

Equalities and Human Resources 

6.2 None arising from this report. 

Legal 

6.3 There are no legal implications, other than those outlined in this report.  

Page 60



Asset Disposal 
 

 
 

6.4 This disposal is considered to be compliant with the provisions of S123 of the Local 
Government Act 1972.   

7.0 Engagement and Consultation  

7.1 None arising from this report. 

 

REPORT ENDS 
  

Page 61



Asset Disposal 
 

 
 

Appendix A 

 

APPENDIX A – Site plan showing the extent of the CMS House site as per the red line boundary, of 
which the front building to be sold to the Purchaser is to the north of the pink line.  

 

 

 

Page 62



Document is Restricted

Page 63

Agenda Item 12.
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.




	Agenda
	2. Declarations of Interest
	3. Minutes
	6. Petition - Brookwood Lye Development EXE23-078
	1.0	Introduction
	1.1	A petition has been received which asks the Council to fully the deliver on the long-term vision for Brookwood Lye Road.  The petition has been received through the Council’s online e-petition scheme and received 215 signatures.
	1.2	The number of signatures exceeds the threshold required for a petition to be referred to a meeting of the Executive and accordingly the Petitioner or their nominee has been invited to present the petition at the Executive.
	1.3	The petition has been submitted in the following terms:
	“We the undersigned petition the council to fully deliver on the long-term vision for Brookwood Lye Road including the 128 dwellings, 19 pitch Traveller site and road improvements. This vision was widely consulted on and has demonstrable support from local residents. The approved planning application for the Traveller site (PLAN/2017/1307), was agreed at Planning Committee on 23 February 2021. The application for the 128 dwellings (PLAN/2021/0248) submitted by the Council's wholly owned subsidiary Thameswey will deliver 64 dwellings as affordable, which is much needed in Brookwood and the surrounding villages of Knaphill and St. Johns. The A322 Corridor Consultation in July 2017, had the overwhelming support of local residents for the proposed improvements to Brookwood Crossroads.”
	1.4	The online petition went live on 14 October 2022 and closed on 14 October 2023.

	2.0	Petition Scheme
	2.1	As the number of signatories exceeds 200, the petition falls to be debated at the Executive.  In accordance with the Council’s scheme for dealing with petitions, the petitioner has been invited to attend the meeting and present the petition.  The presentation of a petition is limited to not more than three minutes, and should be confined to reading out, or summarising, the purpose of the petition, indicating the number and description of signatories, and making supporting remarks relevant to the petition.
	2.2	Following the presentation, Members of the Executive will have the opportunity to ask questions of the petitioner.  Thereafter, the Executive will discuss the petition and determine what action, if any, is to be taken.  To assist the Executive, Officer comments are set out below.

	3.0	Officer Comments
	3.1	Planning application PLAN/2017/1307 for the “Demolition of an existing one-storey dwelling and ancillary structures associated with the existing caravan park (SG) which provides 13 permanent and 2 temporary pitches at Five Acres, to construct a replacement two-storey dwelling and a replacement caravan park comprised of 19 permanent pitches with hard and soft landscaping and relocated access” was reported to Planning Committee on 23 February 2021. The Planning Committee resolved to grant planning permission subject to the completion of a Section 106 legal agreement, the terms of which are set out in the committee report. The legal agreement has not been signed and until it has, planning permission cannot be issued. Planning application PLAN/2021/0248 for the “demolition of 4 residential units and ancillary structures associated with the existing caravan park at Five Acres to construct 128 residential units two-storey and three-storeys in height, including the creation of an improved access road from Brookwood Lye Road, footpath to Brookwood Lye Road, car parking, 2 local areas of play, hard and soft landscaping” has not been progressed. Officers are working with the applicant and land owners to resolve outstanding matters in order for the site to be developed which will meet the objectives of the requirements contained within the Site Allocations Development Plan Document.


	7. Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and General Fund Budget 2024-25 EXE23-059
	1.0	Government Intervention
	1.1	On Thursday 25 May 2023, the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) published the outcome of its non-statutory external assurance review into Woking Borough Council’s (WBC) finances, investments and related governance. The Secretary of State considered the Council was failing to comply with its best value duty under the Local Government Act 1999. In particular, the scale of financial and commercial risk due to the Council’s legacy of disproportionate levels of debt at over £2billion. The government’s intervention will be in place for five years.

	2.0	Section 114 Notice June 2023
	2.1	On 7 June 2023, the then Section 151 Officer issued WBC with a Section 114 Notice. The notice was required because the Council’s expenditure was likely to exceed the financial resources available, and therefore it could no longer balance its budget for the remainder of the financial year and subsequent years. The Council faces this extremely serious financial shortfall because of its historic investment strategy that has resulted in unaffordable borrowing, inadequate steps to repay that borrowing and high values of irrecoverable loans. The notice stated that against available core funding of £16m in the 2023/24 financial year, WBC faced a deficit of £1.2bn, which broadly represents the cost of impaired loans and the need to make backdated provision for the repayment of debt. Further work has been undertaken along with Commissioners to develop a debt reduction plan in response to this and an update is provided in this report.
	2.2	Clearly, the size and scale of the historic debt prevents a legal budget being set for 2024/25 without some form of support from Government. Discussions via the Commissioners on this are taking place. However, to access any support, the Council needs to show that it is ‘living within its means’ and taking steps to meet a significant part of the deficit from its own resources. This includes developing a disposal strategy for the Council’s property portfolio, in a way that delivers the best returns for the public purse, allowing key services to be maintained and reduces the cost of debt servicing.
	2.3	Work with Commissioners has focussed on separating, as far as possible, how this historic debt is dealt with from the challenge of setting a “business as usual” budget for Woking’s services to its residents. This approach will continue through to budget setting.

	3.0	Council Vision
	3.1	The scale of the financial problem and the Government intervention are clearly major determinants of what the Council is able to now deliver. However, Council recognises how important it is for Members, residents, staff and partners nevertheless to have a clear and positive vision for the future.  This vision needs to be set in the context of Woking facing significant financial challenges.  This means becoming a smaller organisation focussed on the core services required of a borough council.
	3.2	The Council’s leadership have been working on what this vision looks like and are now gathering feedback from wider Members and staff. The aim is to present this vision alongside the budget papers in February 2024.  The vision then needs to be embedded into how WBC operates.  The Council will therefore review the ‘Woking for All Strategy’ to update its objectives to align to the vision through the spring, ensuring there is a clear thread between vision, strategy, objectives and delivery.

	4.0	Benchmarking
	4.1	As part of the budget setting process, it is important to understand how WBC’s service offer compares to other councils. To aid this work, Local Partnerships have been commissioned to carry out a benchmarking exercise between statistical nearest neighbours. The information includes comparative revenue outturn data, census, and planning data from national sources. Initial research has drawn some conclusions that support known issues. Specifically, in the majority of areas reviewed, the Council has historically spent more than its statistical neighbours. Also, in some service areas there has been increased spend even though the population and household figures have not increased significantly.
	4.2	The data analysis is being led by officers working with the Executive Member for Finance and will be discussed with the Member Finance Working Group before being used as context for the final budget papers in February 2024. As part of this, the Executive Member has agreed further work being commissioned to ‘deep dive’ into several statutory services – this will allow direct comparisons to be made with similar sized authorities and identify where opportunities for service improvements might exist. This will likely inform future decisions on service provision in the further years of the MTFS.

	5.0	General Fund 2024/25 Budget – Approach Taken
	5.1	Earlier reports have highlighted the issues with data quality and the lack of accessible and meaningful financial information.  As part of the Finance Recovery Plan a programme of work is underway and improvements have been made, including the improvement of the budget monitoring information.  The work has not progressed at the desired pace due to the scale of the work required and the difficulties in finding suitable skilled capacity to carry out the work.  This has impacted on the budget process.  The officer MTFP Working Group is overseeing the budget process and the steps required to develop and verify the detailed information required to underpin the 2024/25 budget.  Commissioners have supported the s151 Officer in sourcing additional capacity to ensure this work, and that on the draft accounts, is delivered within the required timescales.
	5.2	The September MTFS report identified budget savings of £8.5m against the previously agreed £12m target. This target is a significant challenge, given that the Council’s income from Council Tax and Business Rates (its “net budget”) is projected to be only £15million next year. However, gross service spending is higher at £45m due to some services being funded by fees and charges, which is why an increase in these charges must be a key part of a sustainable budget.
	5.3	The MTFS report indicated that even this significant target of £12m was insufficient to meet the pressures on the Council’s services (inflation, demand etc) which were estimated in September as £19million The additional costs over the target relate to Woking’s historic investments i.e. the large Commercial Estate and the cost of debt, not its day-to-day services. As it will be difficult to find additional savings above £12m given the size of Woking BC’s revenue budget in one year, the focus of financial planning for 2024/25 since September has been to:
	a) 	Delivering the maximum possible savings against service budgets, as per the previously agreed £12m target. This will demonstrate the Council’s commitment to meeting as much of the deficit as possible.
	b) 	Review the options for savings above the £12m from asset management and debt reduction options i.e. to target the historic arrangements that are the source of the pressures. This approach is part of the Commercial Strategy and asset rationalisation strategy being developed within the Council’s Improvement and Recovery Plan (IRP).
	5.4	Work since September is focussed on these two strands and further detail is set out in this report. As the work has progressed from initial options to more detailed proposals risks have been identified in the delivery and costing of the savings proposed in September. More detailed work is being carried out and some options are being reviewed as more detailed information becomes available and costs in the light of public consultation.
	5.5	Work on service budgets has involved both testing the existing £8.5m savings and identifying additional options and a review of the cost pressures (demand and inflation). This includes working with the Member Finance Working Group on key areas of concern for Members in the budget, such as reviewing key savings proposals like Pool in the Park in more depth and testing options, feeding their work back into Overview and Scrutiny Committee and all Member briefings.
	5.6	Work on a debt reduction plan linked to an asset rationalisation strategy has commenced and will develop proposals that provide a basis for Commissioners to discuss options with Government. This work is happening alongside that to the delivery of the £12m savings target and together will need to ensure a legal balanced budget for 2024/25 can be set.

	6.0	Progress Since September £12m Target
	6.1	Officers are working on both:
	a) 	Base budget verification and update of estimates, comprised of work on both service costs and savings (e.g. Pool in the Park) and “corporate” items such as the provision made for inflation or wider commercial issues.
	b)	Potential further options for Members to consider, e.g. further savings options or key Member decisions such as the level of Council Tax increase for 2024/25.
	6.2	No decisions are brought forward at this point – the purpose of this report is to ensure that all Members are aware of the current position and options, including information shared with the Member Finance Working Group. Key points highlighted below.
	6.3	The Service savings of £8.5m savings reported in September that formed the basis of consultation are summarised in the attached appendix which is the Annex 6 from the September report. They are a combination of proposed staff savings of circa £2.6m across most services within proposed budget reductions of £2.9m (part of phase 3A of the Fit for the Future Programme) and non-staff service savings in Phase 3B and 3C. The proposals included internal measures such as reducing ‘back-office’ services, management costs and reviewing Civic Office provision. It also includes proposed reductions to public-facing discretionary services including such as the phased closure of Pool in the Park; removal of funding to arts, cultural and sports development; removal of community grant funding and closure of public conveniences all of which are subject to public consultation.
	6.4	The budget verification work and consultation process will result in updated figures, with some reducing and others potentially increasing. Overall, further work currently suggests that a number of savings are at risk, so the £8.5m is likely to reduce, which puts more emphasis on the need to firm up any further savings options.
	Base Budget – Staff Savings
	6.5	There has been both an extensive public consultation exercise and an internal staff consultation process on the impacts of these savings. These exercises, together with work by the Finance team to verify and capture the costs of the savings will provide a comprehensive update on the final numbers for the February report.
	6.6	The restructure is Council wide and a significant exercise to deliver £2.6m of savings, including staff consultation and assessing service delivery impacts. This process is timetabled to continue until January 2024 so the final position and savings will be approved in the February budget report.
	6.7	Provision was made for the potential impact of approximately 60 full time equivalent posts. The work to verify the saving that the staff restructure process will deliver is still ongoing linked to the consultation process and includes tracking the level of redundancies and how this may be mitigated by vacancies that have been on hold during the process. Current modelling suggests that the restructure will deliver the planned savings.
	Base Budget – Service Savings and the Finance Working Group (FWG)
	6.8	The impact of the savings is significant, so to assist Members with the information required to make the difficult decisions that will be needed in February, there have been fortnightly meetings of the Finance Working Group (FWG), which includes Members of Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting with senior officers. Further information has been and will continue to be provided for the FWG in the run up to the final budget report.
	6.9	Options appraisals are being undertaken for review by FWG on the key proposed changes to discretionary services that might deliver significant savings but have the potential to have a high impact on residents and stakeholders. The initial savings proposals are being reviewed and updated in line with the more detailed budget verification work.  This will include whether alternative options for the delivering the savings are required taking into account financial performance and usage of facilities, identified opportunities and constraints, emerging information from the budget consultation process, the Equality Impact Assessments and benchmarking data.  Updates will be provided as part of the Budget papers in February 2024.
	Pool in the Park
	6.10	The proposal to review this facility was the most commented on issue in the public consultation exercise. Based on this and discussions with user groups there is a clear preference for the Council to explore increasing fees and charges, including concessionary rates, as an alternative to closure.
	6.11	Council officers have therefore been working with Members on a detailed options analysis for Pool in the Park, that compares the full and partial closure options to a model that includes a significant change in charges to move towards nil subsidy and make the budget saving this way. There has been an extensive exercise to investigate the costs and issues that would arise if there were a full or phased closure. Benchmarking has shown that Woking’s current charges are low in comparison to neighbouring Councils. The options analysis is being finalised, but it is likely that a viable option can be presented to Council to increase charges to keep it open. Clearly if the income drops because of this, the Council will have to consider closure at a later date, but this would also allow time for other options including community ownership to be considered. Work will continue with user groups on this option in the run up to a final decision.
	Base Budget - Corporate Items
	6.12	The draft budget in the September report included the following that are being reviewed and updated again:
	- 	an allowance for pay and price inflation
	- 	Council Tax, business rates and New Homes Bonus income
	- 	new budget pressures including car parking income, commercial rents and capital financing costs
	6.13	The Autumn Statement has confirmed that there is no additional funding for public services.  This and recent policy statements have confirmed that the Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) for Councils will be uplifted for the September CPI (6.7%) and the extension of some business rates reliefs to be funded by a S31 grant. The low level of Government grant received means this will not have a substantial impact on the budget. A further policy statement was published on 5 December which confirmed arrangements for continued in year payment of New Homes Bonus, with the Finance Settlement due on 18 or 19 December.
	6.14	Budget figures for council tax and business rates will be updated in line with the review of the collection performance and key decisions on declaring the Collection Fund surplus and setting the council tax and business rates base required in January.
	6.15	Other cost and income estimates built into the September report are being updated for February, as follows.
	6.16	Inflation and pressure assumptions are also be scrutinised and there are other areas of uncertainty in the budget that are being reviewed – in particular capital financing costs, commercial rents and lease premiums.
	6.17	Executive and Council have separately considered increases to fees and charges in discretionary services as an alternative to cutting services. The estimated impact of these decisions was set out in the report and has been built into the budget.  These figures will be updated once the final pieces of work on assessing risks on the impact on demand for services and the budget verification work has been completed.
	6.18	The savings included a forensic review of Council budgets with the aim of reducing spend by £0.750m – the finance team are reviewing all budget lines with service managers as part of a base budget review. This will allow for budget reductions to be built into the final report.
	6.19	The outturn report for 2022/23 included an adjustment to the Housing Revenue Account at a cost of £0.7m to the General Fund. This was not included in the September MTFS report but will now have to be built into the budget for next year (the 2022/23 figure is being updated for inflation and other factors). A full review of the HRA position is being carried out, including the recharge methodology to ensure that future recharges to the HRA are correct and any historic issues can be addressed.
	Base Budget - Capital Financing costs including Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)
	6.20	As part of the Improvement and Recovery Plan work is underway to produce a detailed cashflow forecast and full reconciliation of the capital financing budget.  As part of the budget setting process and in line with discussions with government the following will be addressed:
	-	An updated capital financing budget taking into account the detailed reconciliation work.
	-	An updated forecast for interest costs on borrowing, taking into account the additional borrowing agreed, the requirements to support the Capital Strategy and required refinancing during the year.
	-	The approach to Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).
	-	The treatment of principal and interest repayments no longer recoverable from the companies following the suspension of the Revolving Credit Facility.
	6.21	These issues also form part of the ongoing discissions with Government.
	Further Options
	6.22	As stated earlier in the report, further work is required to identify savings to close the budget gap.  This includes:
		A review of options previously identified in the Gateway savings exercise earlier in the year but not built into the budget. This work will assess their deliverability for next or future years. The work will also identify where an Equality Impact Assessment and consultation is required to inform the lead in time to their delivery. A realistic assessment of the capacity to deliver will also be required.
		A thorough review of the provision for inflation and demand pressures built into service budgets is being undertaken with a view to maintaining cash standstill or less where feasible.
	6.23	The position on Council Tax is set out in a separate section below.
	7.1	Additional challenges arise from the overspends in current year budget 2023/24 of £7.5m (plus £8m of reserves used to set the budget) and also the previous year’s 2022/23 outturn £9m above budget, as reported to November Executive.
	7.2	The cumulative impact of these costs is likely to still be over £20m at the point when Full Council sets the final budget in February and will be an issue in setting a legal budget.
	8.1	A key part of the Improvement and Recovery Plan is the asset rationalisation and debt reduction work.  The work is in the context of the strategic aim ‘to release the Council from unaffordable commitments whilst protecting the public purse and optimising the value of from existing assets’.
	8.2	The development of the Council’s overall commercial strategy is being led by the Strategic Director - Corporate Resources with the s151 Officer. They are supported by expert advisors who have provided advice to councils with similar financial and commercial challenges. The strategy will focus on bringing together all council commercial activities under one clear plan.
	8.3	This objective is based on having:
	8.4	The strategy should place the following assets together for consideration. Currently they are being dealt with separately.
	8.5	The last three months has seen a breakthrough in the asset rationalisation work.  The next period will see the completion of a prioritised plan which will balance the urgent need to reduce the levels of debt with achieving value for money for the assets sold.  A programme of asset disposals for the next three years is developing.  Poor asset records remain a barrier to more rapid progress and even in the most aggressive scenario, disposals in the next two years are likely to be in the tens not hundreds of millions.
	9.1	In making decisions in relation to the revenue budget and council tax the Council has various legal and fiduciary duties. The Council is required by the Local Government Finance Act 1992 to make specific estimates of gross revenue expenditure and anticipated income leading to the calculation of the council tax requirement and the setting of the overall budget and council tax. The amount of the council tax requirement must be sufficient to meet the Council’s legal and financial commitments, ensure the proper discharge of its statutory duties and lead to a balanced budget.
	9.2	In exercising its fiduciary duty, the Council should be satisfied that the proposals put forward are a prudent use of the Authority’s resources in both the short and long term; that the proposals strike a fair balance between the interests of Council taxpayers and ratepayers, current and future, on the one hand and the community’s interests in adequate and efficient services on the other; and that they are acting in good faith for the benefit of the community whilst complying with all statutory duties. Officers have addressed the duty to strike a fair balance between the different elements of the community and the interests of council tax and business rate payers in developing the proposals which are set out in the Directorate reports.
	9.3	Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires that when a local authority is making its budget calculations, the Chief Finance Officer (‘CFO’) of the authority must report to the Council on:
	-	the robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the calculations; and
	-	the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves.
	-	the Council has a statutory duty to have regard to the CFO’s report when making decisions about the calculations.
	9.4	The ability for the Council to give assurances on the budget position will be dependent on the position reached in the discussions with Government on the amount and nature of support provided.  It is unlikely that a long-term support package will be agreed in time for the Council budget setting meeting in February and it is more likely that there will be a provisional offer of support that will give sufficient assurance that a balanced budget for 2024/25 can be set.
	9.5	As part of the MTFS in February a full Section 25 Statement will be provided by the s151 Officer and agreed with Commissioners. As required by statute this will set out in full the risks to the budget position, following the format of the new CIPFA guidance and drafted in a way that is relevant to the circumstances the Council are in.  It remains of vital importance that the Council plays its part in the delivery of the required budget savings, whilst the government support addresses the significant issues arising from the historic debt and commercial activities.
	9.6	The budget report will also include gross and net control totals for each area of service that take into account all budget changes including changes in fees and charges, to the staffing structure and the savings to be delivered.  This is important for a transparent budget setting process and to support effective budget management during the year.  This information has been lacking in previous years.
	9.7	In previous years the Council has sometimes used significant contributions from Reserves to support service delivery.  As a result of the Financial Review undertaken to inform the Section 114 Notice, the Council has no reserves.  Accordingly, the Council cannot use such reserves as a funding source in forming the 2024/25 Budget and will have limited resilience to any future shocks or budget risks.
	10.1	The Council Tax referendum limit will remain unchanged from 2023/24 and is 3% for local authorities without social care responsibilities. This will generate £330k which has already been built into the base budget position. For upper tier authorities there is a further 2% precept for social care. Council tax increases above that level are normally subject to public consultation process but are also usually part of the Government’s position via an intervention. In other Councils subject to intervention, tax increases above the cap have been implemented as part of dealing with budget gaps. Thurrock and Slough Councils increased their tax by 10% and Croydon increased theirs by 15%.
	10.2	In this context and with the legacy debt problem, the final recommendation to Council in February will clearly not be a decision for Councillors alone. Discussions have started with Commissioners and will be followed up before the final decision is made. A Council Tax increase would help close the budget gap – each 1% increase raises £110k. It would not be possible to mitigate existing savings given the remaining budget gap.
	11.1	A separate report is being drafted for approval in February on the Council’s Capital Programme, which will be a curtailed programme from previous years given the debt position. The Council has previously funded a number of capital investment programmes (such as Sheerwater and Victoria Square) through the setting up of group companies, financed through loans provided by the Council - drawn from the Public Works Loan Board. This practice has now been deemed both unsustainable and not compliant with financial regulations and a new Company Governance process has been put in place as agreed by Executive on 16 November 2023.
	11.2	For next year and in future, the Council’s capital programme will be developed in line with the principles set out in the July 2023 report and reported as part of the budget process. The following Capital Planning Principles were adopted by Council in July 2023 to form the Capital Programme which will be presented to Council in February.  Proposals that do not fall within these ‘Capital Principles’ will not be included within the Draft Capital Programme.
	11.3	Potential capitalisation flexibilities including the use of capital receipts to support revenue expenditure for service transformation are available and the position will be reviewed in the light of the significant changes the Council is expected to deliver.
	11.4	The Treasury Management Strategy will set out the Council’s borrowing requirements and strategy, the annual investment strategy, the Treasury and Prudential Indicators and the MRP Strategy.  The report will follow the CIPFA requirements and be closely aligned to the discussions with government on the nature of the support package likely to be available.
	11.5	The Council’s bankers, Lloyds have a policy for Councils subject to a s114 notice that the Executive considers the Council’s continued use of facilities which it has with Lloyds Bank in light of the issue of the s114 Notice.  The Executive is required to consider the restrictions which the issue of the s114 Notice imposes on the Council and its ability to enter into new obligations. The s151 officer can advise Executive that the Banking Facilities are an essential part of the Council’s current funding plans, to enable it to continue to provide its statutory services and in view of this the Council has the power to enter into and continue to use the Banking Facilities.
	12.1	Delivering the proposed savings in the budget will impact the delivery of public services in Woking. Where services cannot be self-funded or delivered by other organisations, there is a significant likelihood they will be reduced or closed. Public and/or service user/stakeholder consultation has been carried out to understand the implications of potential reductions and, where possible, seek to mitigate against complete closures for the most valued services. As explained above the Finance Working Group (reporting to Overview and Scrutiny Committee) will also review business cases and options for the savings in detail.
	12.2	The Council has carried out an extensive consultation to understand resident and stakeholder views on its planned service reductions. There were nearly 6,000 respondents to the public consultation survey alongside a number of face-to-face meetings with stakeholders and community groups directly affected by the proposals. The results of the public consultation are being analysed and fed into the development of the Council’s Equalities Impact Assessments and detailed options appraisals, which will be considered as part of the budget papers in February 2024.
	12.3	As a result of the proposed changes to the service offer, consultation with affected staff and UNISON was launched in November 2023. The consultation continues through to January 2024 and during this time staff have the opportunity to comment on, question and suggest alternatives to the proposed structure, JD’s and the selection and assessment process. Staff are supported through training opportunities, one to ones, All Staff briefings and team meetings, Frequently Asked Questions which are updated weekly, and a dedicated page on the intranet, alongside Trade Union support for those who are members. The staffing structures have been designed to align to the proposed service changes; therefore, no final decision will be made until the budget has been approved in February.
	13.1	A robust MTFS is a key document in the Council’s financial planning cycle. This document sets out the strategic approach that the Council needs to take to deliver the Improvement and Recovery Plan (IRP) and respond to the Section 114 Notice, whilst continuing to meet its statutory duties. The MTFS is designed to acknowledge and structure approaches that mitigate financial risk.
	13.2	In considering the budget, the Council must also consider its ongoing duties under the Equality Act 2010 to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination and advance equality of opportunity between all irrespective of whether they fall into a protected category such as race, sex, religion, etc. Having due regard to these duties does not mean that the Council has an absolute obligation to eliminate discrimination but that it must consider how its decisions will contribute towards meeting the duties in the light of all other relevant circumstances such as economic and practical considerations.
	13.3	It is important that the Council seeks to understand the equalities impacts of proposed service changes and any potential mitigations which can be offered. Given the scale and complexity of the proposed change required to balance our budget, the Council’s efficiency proposals for 2024/25 have been analysed to understand positive and negative impacts on both residents and staff with protected characteristics, particularly where they may be impacted by multiple efficiency proposals.
	13.4	The EqIAs have been developed with the support of an organisation called Local Partnerships, as part of our sector support offer from the Local Government Association. Local Partnerships have provided external steer and challenge to ensure these important documents are as robust as possible. In total 18 EqIAs have been produced with an overall report which will consider the cumulative impact of the changes on people with protected characteristics and analyse the potential impacts in totality. As part of the EqIA process, the Council also takes impacts on non-statutory issues (such as socio-economic status) into consideration, to ensure we take a more comprehensive approach to equality.
	13.5	In early January 2024, the Council will hold a EqIA review meeting where a small panel of Members will review the draft EqIAs and feed into their development. The final versions will be published alongside the budget papers in late January 2024. The information within the EqIA reports is intended to ensure that Members are able to pay due regard to the equality implications of the proposed budget for 2024/25.
	Legal
	13.6	The Council is still obliged to meet its statutory duties and continue to make decisions in accordance with public law principles. The setting of a balanced budget in March 2024 is a legal requirement.

	Annex 6
	Annex 6..cont

	8. Draft Housing Revenue Account Budget Update 2024-25 EXE23-060
	Under the Government’s current rent setting regime, social rents should increase by up to CPI+1% each year.  The budgeted rents have been prepared on this basis and rents have been increased by 7.7% (based on September CPI of 6.7%).
	The report also proposes that a consultation commences on the proposed closure of the Brockhill Extra Care Housing scheme. Brockhill requires significant capital expenditure on fire safety remedial works and a full heating system replacement. The anticipated total capital expenditure required on Brockhill over the next 10 years is forecast to be circa £5.8 million. In addition, whilst Brockhill is a much valued and loved facility by residents, the design and layout of the building does not meet the current expectations for extra care housing as set out in Surrey County Council’s Accommodation with Care and Support Strategy and national best practice. This level of capital investment is considered unviable for a building of this age and size. Subject to the consultation, officers will work with residents to identify alternative accommodation based on their individual assessed needs and their preferences and support them through the moving process.
	There are still a number of uncertainties remaining, including future capital financing requirements and the Government’s rent setting approach, that will influence the final budgets. However, early indications are that the HRA will be in balance next year with an estimated surplus of circa £1 million that could be invested back into much needed capital improvements to HRA stock. This would be an important step towards the longer term stability of the HRA.
	1.0	Introduction
	1.1	This paper sets out the progress made to date in preparing the Council’s draft Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budgets for 2024/25.
	1.2	Explanations of the changes and pressures within the different elements of the budget are set out in the sections below.
	1.3	Further to the HRA Recovery Plan report to Council in July 2023, early indications are that the HRA will be in balance next year with an estimated surplus of circa £1 million that could be invested back into much needed capital improvements to HRA stock. This would be an important step towards the longer term stability of the HRA.

	2.0	Forecast Outturn
	2.1	Adjustments to the revised estimates for 2023/24 have been made to reflect variations identified during the year to date.
	2.2	The Quarter 2 Budget monitoring for 2023/24 showed a forecast increase in the HRA deficit for the year, from a budgeted £1,336,000 deficit to a forecast £2,306,000 deficit, a worsening in the deficit (overspend) of £970,000.
	2.3	Work is almost complete reviewing the charges being made to the HRA for staffing, support services and other costs to ensure that they are fair and reasonable for last year, this year and moving forward. The work to date is highlighting an overcharge to the HRA for staffing and support services which will need rectifying in 2023/24.
	2.4	However, with the anticipated adjustment to the central recharges to the HRA, the forecast HRA outturn for 2023/24 is expected to be close to the budgeted deficit of £1.3 million.

	3.0	Approach to Budget Setting 2024/25
	Assumptions
	3.1	The draft budgets covered in this paper do not reflect any additional borrowing that may be required to support next year’s Investment Programme and in particular the Housing Annual Maintenance Plan.
	3.2	During the course of 2023/24, a review of recharge allocations has been undertaken to ensure that they are fair and reasonable to the HRA. The assumptions for 2024/25 includes these adjusted recharge assumptions. The allocation will be reviewed for the final budget to ensure the apportionment reflects the current structure. Inflation in staff costs have not been considered while preparing the draft budgets.
	3.3	Housing and Finance will be updating the 30-year HRA Business Plan as part of the budget setting process. This will involve a review of the current year assumptions on income and expenditure, the development of MTFS budgets using the latest CPI inflation rate, stock condition survey data and latest contractual agreements. This will also involve the development of growth and savings assumptions for updating revenue and capital expenditure budgets for the 30-year period. The exercise will involve completing scenario planning and stress testing of all options considered.

	4.0	Rents and Other Charges
	4.1	The rent increase is based on current CPI+1% limit on annual rent increases in line with the Government Rent Standard. The budgeted rents have been prepared on this basis and rents have been increased by 7.7% (based on September CPI of 6.7%).
	4.2	It should be noted that in light of the cost of living crisis and high inflation rate, the Government imposed a ceiling on rent increases of 7% from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024. No announcements have been made on the Government’s intended approach to rent setting for 2024/25, but there remains a risk that rent increases may be capped again next year.
	4.3	In 2024/25, there are fifty-three rent weeks, the extra one week will generate additional rent in the region of £347,000.
	4.4	Total rental income is forecast to increase by circa £1.6 million in 2024/25 to circa £20,343,000.
	Recovery of Charges
	4.5	Service charges, including energy charges, are based on the cost of the service being provided.  The Section 151 Officer has delegated authority to vary service charges in line with external factors.
	4.6	Energy charges are levied on a per block basis based on cost.  This allows energy costs to be recharged to tenants on a more detailed basis.
	4.7	The assumption is that any housing-related support charges cover the cost of this service. A number of these were considered in the Fees and Charges report to Council in November 2023.
	Implementation Date
	4.8	The new rents will be applied from the first Monday in April (i.e. 1 April 2024).

	5.0	Prudential Borrowing
	5.1	HRA interest charges for pre 2016/17 borrowing are fixed at the Council’s average borrowing rate on 31 March 2016.  HRA borrowing from April 2017 onwards are charged at the annual average 50-year PWLB borrowing rate.  This ensures that General Fund investment decisions made by the Council do not impact the HRA.
	5.2	The updated forecast for HRA interest costs is £5,612,000 in 2024/25.
	5.3	The 2024/25 Draft Budget makes no allowance for repayment of the debt taken on for Self-Financing or for the repayment of the borrowing relating to any new build developments or acquisitions completed up to 2023/24. The borrowing relates to long life assets which are fully maintained.
	5.4	Work is ongoing to understand the required capital budgets for the Council’s Housing Annual Maintenance Plan in 2024/25 given the known issues regarding the poor state of our existing housing stock. This may require additional HRA borrowing, which is not currently factored in to the draft HRA budget for 2024/25.

	6.0	Robustness of the Budget and Risks
	6.1	It is important to consider the robustness of the budget and the adequacy of reserves for the purpose of maintaining the financial health of the Housing Revenue Account.  The key risks are set out in the following paragraphs.
	HRA New Build Developments
	6.2	The draft HRA budget assumes there are no HRA new build developments during 2024/25.
	Repairs, Maintenance, and Management and Contractual Inflation
	6.3	Housing Services were brought in house from 1 April 2022. The Council has recently commenced a new contract for the provision of gas servicing and repairs and is currently procuring a new responsive repairs contractor to commence 28 March 2024. Therefore, the cost forecasts for 2024/25 are based on assumptions.
	6.4	The total budget for repairs and compliance for 2024/25 is forecast at £3,823,000.
	Major Repairs Contribution
	6.5	As per the 1 April 2017 Item 8 Determination, depreciation is to be charged to the HRA with effect from 1 April 2017 in accordance with proper accounting practices.  The depreciation replaces the Major Repairs Contribution and is transferred to the Major Repairs Reserve to be used on capital works to the stock or repaying debt.  HRA depreciation is calculated by dividing the total asset value of Council Dwellings by their average useful economic life.  Based on the 31 March 2023 asset value, the depreciation amount is estimated to be £4,196,000 in 2024/25. The depreciation will contribute towards the Annual Maintenance Plan for 2024-25, including capitalised staff costs.
	Sheerwater Regeneration
	6.6	Under the Sheerwater Regeneration project, approximately 426 HRA dwellings were due to be demolished.  This placed considerable pressure on the HRA due to the loss of income and ongoing costs of maintaining empty homes.
	6.7	In October 2023, the Council agreed to retain and refurbish circa 100 HRA homes. These will generate extra income of around £650,000 to the HRA once they are all occupied. As the timescales for bringing homes back into use are still unknown, rental income for 2024/25 assumes that occupancy will remain at 56 for 2024/25.
	Reserves and Balances
	6.8	With the adjustments to previous budgets for recharges, the balance on the HIP Reserve is forecast to be £830,000 on 31 March 2024 and £1,940,000 on 31 March 2025. Rebuilding reserves is an important step towards the longer term stability of the HRA.

	7.0	Brockhill Extra Care
	7.1	Brockhill Extra Care Housing is a purpose-built two-storey scheme, constructed during the late 1980s. The scheme provides 48 extra care apartments over 2 floors, along with a communal lounge, dining room, kitchen and reception/staff/office areas. The Council provides a dedicated support team at Brockhill, whilst Surrey County Council commissions a care provider to provide individual care packages to residents who need it. The scheme is very popular with older residents in the Borough for its homely setting and operates with a waiting list.
	7.2	Over the years, the structure of the building appears to have had limited investment with only minor investment internally. As a result of it age and lack of ongoing investment, the building needs major capital works over the next 2 years and beyond.
	7.3	The communal boiler serving the scheme failed last December causing considerable inconvenience and discomfort to residents and staff. The communal boiler was found to be beyond repair. Furthermore, the heating infrastructure throughout the building is aged and in poor condition and the whole heating system requires upgrading and renewing. The scheme is currently being served by a temporary boiler, which is not a long-term solution.
	7.4	In February 2023, the Council received an updated Fire Risk Assessment for the building that identified that significant improvements were needed, including replacing fire doors and frames and compartmentation works. The combination of the building defects and the vulnerability of the residents means there are high risks around the fire safety of the scheme. In order to mitigate these risks, the Council has implemented a number of interim measures, including introducing a Waking Watch, switching from a Stay Put to an Evacuation Policy, freezing new lettings and upgrading the fire detection system. Where possible, the Council has sought to relocate residents from the first floor to the ground floor to aid evacuation. As a result of the decision to freeze any new lettings, the occupancy level at Brockhill has dropped to 68%.
	7.5	The urgent heating upgrade and Fire Safety Works have been tendered with the combined cost being circa £2.75 million over the next year. The building is expected to require other planned works over the next 5 years, forecast at a further circa £600,000.
	7.6	Many other building elements are original and are deteriorating consistent with their anticipated lifecycle expectancy. Over the next 5 -10 years, building components, such as, rainwater fittings, roofing, external joinery, paths/hardstanding, common electrical elements, and floor coverings, are expected to need investment. The anticipated total capital expenditure required on Brockhill over the next 10 years is forecast to be circa £5.8 million, including design and professional fees, inflation, preliminaries and contingency.
	7.7	In July 2019, Surrey County Council (SCC) approved an Accommodation with Care and Support Strategy and committed to a major programme within the strategy to deliver 725 units of affordable Extra Care Housing for older people by 2030. Any decision around Brockhill will have implications for the delivery of this strategy, along with potentially placing additional cost pressures on adult social care budgets. Accordingly, the Council initiated discussions with officers at SCC in the summer regarding the future of Brockhill, which included a site inspection.
	7.8	The engagement with SCC officers has been productive and positive, including validating the extent of the capital works required at Brockhill. In addition, whilst Brockhill is a much valued and loved facility by residents, the discussions concluded that the design and layout of the building does not meet the current expectations for extra care housing as set out in SCC’s strategy and national best practice.
	7.9	Sadly, all of the discussions and investigations point to the conclusion that the building is becoming obsolete with the level of capital investment required over the next 10 years being unviable (in the context of the age and size of the scheme).
	7.10	This report seeks approval to commence consultation on the proposed closure of Brockhill. Under Section 105 of the Housing Act 1985 the Council has a legal obligation to consult its secure tenants on ‘matters of housing management’ such as changes to the management, maintenance, improvement or demolition of houses let by them, or changes in the provision of amenities. Given the current building condition and the associated risks, it is proposed that the consultation commences as soon as possible and runs for a minimum of 30 days.
	7.11	The Council acknowledges that this will be difficult and upsetting for people living and working Brockhill, as well as the families of residents living there. However, this consultation is necessary because of the issues with the building, which is no longer fit for purpose. If closure is agreed, the identification of alternative accommodation for individuals currently living at Brockhill would be based on their individual assessed needs and their preferences. This will be done in close dialogue with colleagues in SCC Adult Social Care.
	7.12	We have already begun moving some residents, who in the event of a fire, could not evacuate safely without assistance, as it is becoming apparent that Brockhill is no longer a safe and suitable place for residents to live.

	8.0	Conclusion
	8.1	As detailed in the report, it is estimated that the Council will be able to set a balanced HRA budget for 2024/25 with an estimated amount in the region of £1 million being transferred from the HRA into reserves. This could be invested back into much needed capital improvements to HRA stock and is an important step towards the longer term stability of the HRA.
	8.2	There are still a number of uncertainties remaining, including future capital financing requirements and the Government’s rent setting approach, that will influence the final budgets.
	8.3	The next steps required to set the 2024/25 HRA budget include:
		Continuing to refine the budget assumptions, particularly around the capital programme funding requirements.
		Monitoring Government announcements in terms of rent setting.
		Commissioning the 30-year HRA Business Plan.
		Completing the procurement for a new repairs contractor and making any adjustments to budget assumptions.

	9.0	Corporate Strategy
	9.1	The report sets out the draft budgets for managing and maintaining the Council’s housing stock during 2024/25.  Provision of housing is a key priority within the Council’s Corporate Plan.

	10.0	Implications
	10.1	The financial implications are explicit in the report.
	10.2	Specific risks have also been set out in the report.
	10.3	An Equalities Impact Assessment will be completed prior to any decisions being taken on the future of Brockhill.
	Legal
	10.4	None identified at this time.

	11.0	Engagement and Consultation
	11.1	Under Section 105 of the Housing Act 1985 the Council has a legal obligation to consult its secure tenants on ‘matters of housing management’ such as changes to the management, maintenance, improvement or demolition of houses let by them, or changes in the provision of amenities.
	11.2	It is proposed that a consultation commences as soon as possible on the future of Brockhill and runs for a minimum of 30 days.


	9. Update to Improvement and Recovery Plan EXE23-085
	1.0	Introduction
	1.1	There are a number of improvement initiatives underway within the Housing service that is part of the Communities Directorate. A significant programme is being developed to ensure the Council’s housing stock meets required standards.
	1.2	Due to the need for significant improvements to the housing stock to meet the required standards, officers self-referred to the Regulator of Social Housing (RSH) in July 2023. Plans were immediately initiated to work on the required improvements. RSH is an executive non-departmental public body, sponsored by the Department for Levelling Up Housing and Communities Regulator of Social Housing - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk).
	1.3	The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Recovery Plan that was reported to the 13 July 2023 meeting of the Executive referenced that it will be necessary for the Council to self-refer to the Regulator for Social Housing as it will not be able to maintain its properties to the Decent Homes standard.
	1.4	A more programmatic approach is now required to ensure the various streams of activity are prioritised accordingly, properly resourced and that there is sufficient strategic oversight. A programme manager has been recruited to drive and co-ordinate this work.
	1.5	To ensure that housing improvement is given the strategic focus and visibility that it needs, it is proposed that the Housing Improvement Programme is included in the IRP going forward. This programme of work will address all aspects of housing management and incorporate the work needed to create a 30-year HRA business plan.

	2.0	Housing Improvement Programme
	2.1	The scope of the activity to be brought into the IRP is set out below. This is the initial scope and the exact format and shape of the workstreams will be developed over the coming weeks.
	2.2	Building safety to deliver a programme of fire safety remedial works and associated projects, including compliance with carbon monoxide (CO) and smoke detection across the stock and a performance dashboard for all compliance areas.
	2.3	Service Improvement which includes procuring and mobilising a new repairs contract; the Sheerwater refurbishment programme; the development of a detailed asset management strategy, including the decent homes programme; a review of compliance against the Rent Standard and other Regulatory Standards; a strategic and delivery approach to tackling damp and mould; and oversight, performance, and project management around voids, decants, returns to use, decommissioning and disposals.
	2.4	Resident engagement and consultation which includes the implementation of Tenant Satisfaction Measures by 31 March 2024; a coordinated approach to resident engagement, delivering core activity required to meet the Tenant Involvement and Empowerment Standard alongside bespoke engagement to support the effective delivery of the fire safety remedial works and decent homes programme; and a detailed programme of service improvements.
	2.5	Tools and ways of working which will deliver the housing system upgrade, to monitor activity and compliance for fire safety, and medium to long term tools to support and deliver high quality asset management. This will also include a programme of policy and process review to ensure the regulatory standards are met and service delivery has a customer focus, and channel shift for frequent housing requests (repairs, online application for housing) and improvements to online information for residents, including fire safety.
	2.6	Culture change which will deliver a new culture and ways of working for the housing service, with staff aligned and focussed on strong customer service values and high quality delivery of core functions.
	2.7	Insights and data will include management data and insight to support delivery of service improvements detailed above, with a focus on asset management; data to inform the development of a 30-year Housing Revenue Account Business Plan, including an updated stock condition survey and associated programme of works.
	2.8	The work to deliver a balanced Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and a 30-year HRA business plan is already underway and included within the IRP within the Financial Recovery theme.

	3.0	Change control
	3.1	The Improvement and Recovery Plan was approved by Council in August 2023. As part of the decision to adopt the IRP, it was also agreed that the Executive will be required to approve any fundamental changes and updates to the IRP.
	3.2	The proposal to include Housing Improvement Programme as a new theme represents a significant addition. The Executive is therefore asked to approve the addition of the programme as set out in section two above.

	4.0	Next steps
	4.1	The programme structure will be developed and projects will be prioritised. Senior leaders will be brought together to share and shape the transformation programme and identify where resource gaps exist.

	5.0	Corporate Strategy
	5.1	The deliverables set out in the Housing Improvement Programme and the IRP will achieve long-term sustainable improvements in how the Council operates, ensuring it is able to take effective decisions focused on improving outcomes for residents. This impacts on the Council’s ability to deliver its Corporate Plan, which will have its objectives and actions revised.

	6.0	Implications
	6.3	The transformation of the Housing Service may lead to staffing changes and could lead to changes in service provision. In this scenario, Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs) will be developed where appropriate to describe the implications of the proposed changes along with mitigations.
	6.4	This report has been reviewed by Legal Services who have raised no issues other than those addressed elsewhere in this report.

	7.0	Engagement and Consultation
	7.1	This programme will include a workstream for Resident engagement and consultation as described in section two.


	10. Asset Disposal EXE23-081
	1.0	Introduction
	1.1	This report seeks approval to sell the freehold interest in the front (north) building of CMS House. It is proposed that the rear (south) building be retained by the Council for the time being.
	1.2	CMS House has a floor area (gross internal area) of 9,148 sq ft, and was recently occupied by CMS Carpets but is now vacant.  It is comprised of two buildings which were merged together by CMS Carpets.  The rear (south) building is 2,205 sq ft (gross internal area) and is shown in Appendix A as the area south of the pink line; and the front (north) building is 7,015 sq ft (gross internal area) and is to the north of the pink line.
	1.3	This report sets out the background information on CMS House, and the process undertaken to reach an agreed price to sell part of the building to the Purchaser. It also outlines the other options that have been considered, as alternatives to disposing of part of the property to this specific purchaser.

	2.0	Background and Current Position
	2.1	The Council acquired the freehold of the entire CMS House property on 5th October 2018 for £1.87m.
	2.2	CMS Carpets vacated the property in 2023, and it is now vacant with substantial empty property rates liabilities of £52,224 per annum.  A substantial amount of refurbishment and repairs are required to the whole of CMS House to bring it up to a good condition.

	3.0	Proposed Disposal
	3.1	Under Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has a duty not to dispose of land for a consideration less than the best that can be reasonably obtained (‘Best Value/Best Consideration’). In this case, the agreed disposal will be in line with the Market Value of the site as determined by a Red Book valuation.
	3.2	In accordance with Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972, Local Authorities are required to secure “Best Consideration” when disposing of property assets.  This would typically (but not necessarily) involve a full marketing process to ensure that the maximum value achievable in the market is secured. However, in cases where there is a “Special Purchaser” which is able to make a more attractive offer than can be secured in the open market, a full marketing process is not required.
	3.3	Case law, e.g. (R (Midlands Co Operative) v Birmingham CC [2012] EWHC 620), has established that Councils have a duty to achieve an outcome not conduct a process, thus different processes are acceptable provided the outcome (securing Best Consideration) is achieved based on proper professional advice.
	3.4	In this case, the Purchaser is a “Special Purchaser” because they have a relocation clause in their lease at Goldsworth Road Industrial Estate, which requires the Council to relocate them to new facilities on “no less favourable terms” than their existing lease. This is a highly onerous clause for the Council as landlord, and will be difficult to fulfil (without CMS House) as property searches of the Council’s commercial estate and the wider market have shown that there are no suitable alternatives.
	3.5	The relatively low rent and favourable lease terms of the Purchaser’s existing tenancy, gives them little incentive to vacate, and puts them in a strong negotiating position.
	3.6	It is essential that the Purchaser is relocated from Goldsworth Road Industrial Estate. A planning application for a light-industrial redevelopment of this Estate was submitted on 12th May 2023. This redevelopment is urgent, due to the age of the existing buildings and their poor condition. As a result of Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards, by 2026 some of the units will not be legally lettable, due to their poor EPC ratings, and it is not cost effective to refurbish/upgrade the existing buildings – as confirmed by consultancy advice from Vail Williams and BNP Paribas.
	3.7	Based on discussions with industrial agents, any industrial developers looking to purchase the Goldsworth Road Industrial Estate will require vacant possession of the Estate as a condition of exchange, or at the very least the assurance that vacant possession can easily be achieved. Therefore, it is imperative that the Council relocates the Purchaser (or removes their relocation clause and Security of Tenure), otherwise the Council will not be able to redevelop the Estate and will not realistically be able to sell it at an acceptable price.
	3.8	The Goldsworth Road Industrial Estate planning application PLAN/2023/0440 was refused by the Planning Committee on 5th September 2023. It proposed demolition of the entire Estate and redevelopment of 12 industrial units to provide light-industrial and storage facilities.  The only Reason for Refusal was loss of B2 Use Class units for car repair use. The scheme has now been revised to fully address the Reason for Refusal by providing three B2 units, and has been resubmitted under PLAN/2023/0875 (validated on 2nd November). The Planning Officer is confident that approval will be secured for this revised scheme.
	3.9	A full marketing exercise has not been undertaken for the sale of CMS House. But another offer has been received, which is at a lower level than has been agreed with the Purchaser.  It is not expected that a sale of the entire CMS House site would exceed its Red Book valuation.
	3.10	The two buildings at CMS House will be split at the Council’s cost. The rear building will either be retained by the Council as an investment property and rented, or sold to an investor.  Hurst Warne have advised that the rear building is likely to be attractive to the market as a storage or light-industrial unit, and will benefit from its excellent location near the town centre.
	3.11	The Council could refurbish and upgrade the 2,205 sq ft rear building in order to maximise achievable rents.  This will also include removing the boarding from the windows, repairing the windows, and fitting the unit out with toilets and a kitchenette.  The Council’s building surveyors have established that the rear building has its own electricity supply, but other services, including water and gas, will need to be reinstated.
	3.12	In conclusion, the Red Book valuation (dated 4th May 2023) by Hurst Warne has demonstrated that the proposed disposal price for the front building of CMS House matches its Market Value. In addition, in view of the “Special Purchaser” status of the Purchaser, and the large financial benefits to the Council of relocating them from Goldsworth Road Industrial Estate, it is clear that this is the “Best Consideration” which maximises overall financial benefits for the Council.

	4.0	Alternative Options
	4.1	Alternative options for CMS House have been considered, and are summarised below:
		Sell the whole of CMS House - the Purchaser does not require the rear building of CMS House.  The front building will provide them with sufficient ancillary storage space to support their retail space, therefore they are unable to make an offer for the whole of CMS House that would be commercially attractive to the Council and meet (or exceed) the Red Book valuation.
	It is not expected that a sale of the entire CMS House site in the open market, following a full marketing process, would exceed its Red Book valuation.
		Rent the whole of CMS House – the Market Rent of the property is estimated within Hurst Warne’s May 2023 Red Book valuation. This expected level of rent represents an annual return, expressed as a percentage of the agreed purchase price, that is not sufficient to make renting a more attractive option to the Council than a sale. In addition, the added benefits of a sale specifically to the agreed Purchaser, make this a much more attractive option than letting the whole building.
	The Purchaser initially considered renting the front building of CMS House rather than renting it, but this is no longer their position, and they have a strong preference for purchasing the freehold.
		Relocate the Purchaser to alternative accommodation - the lack of other suitable, affordable retail warehouse units in the Woking area, makes it very unlikely that alternative accommodation can be found. Therefore, without CMS House, it is unlikely that the Council will be able to relocate the Purchaser, which will prevent Goldsworth Industrial Estate being redeveloped by Council and/or prevent its sale to an industrial developer.
	The Purchaser has been offered other vacant units within the Council’s portfolio, but none of these are suitable. The Purchaser’s highly localised customer base limits how far they can move, and they have specific space and parking requirements which means that the other alternative units are unsuited.
		Sell CMS House in the open market as retail investment – it has been considered whether a sale in the open market, following a full marketing process, would generate more financial benefits to the Council. Given that the Purchaser is paying the full Market Value for the front building, in line with the Red Book valuation, a significantly higher purchase price cannot be expected in the open market, and would also have the downside that it would significantly delay the sale – thus prolonging the high void costs being incurred by the Council for this vacant building. And the failure to relocate the Purchaser from their existing unit at Goldsworth Road Industrial Estate, which is necessary to enable redevelopment of this Estate, will result in a major opportunity cost by limiting the development potential and asset value of the Estate.
	Failure to redevelop the Goldsworth Road Industrial Estate, will cost the Council hundreds of thousands of pounds a year in lost net revenues and/or will prevent a sale of the Estate which is expected to generate a substantial capital receipt.
		Negotiate a cash settlement to vacate the purchaser from their existing unit - the alternative to relocating the Purchaser from their existing unit via the CMS House deal, would be a cash settlement to release the Council from the obligations of the relocation clause and statutory Security of Tenure, which would mean that the Purchaser would need to find their own alternative accommodation. Following discussions with the Purchaser, this is an unattractive option for them, due to the limited alternative accommodation locally, thus they were not willing to negotiate a settlement.  Even if they were to agree in the future to commence negotiations, any notional cash settlement is likely to be far too high to be a feasible and financially attractive option for the Council.
		Alternative uses – the potential to achieve a higher asset value from an alternative use has been considered. Commercial uses on the site are protected via the Local Plan. It is an Employment Area under Site Allocation UA14 (Butts Rd/Poole Rd), which however does earmark the site for “potentially an element of residential use”.  A land valuation of a hypothetical residential-led redevelopment of the site has been prepared.
	The option of a residential-led redevelopment by the Council (or sale by the Council to a residential developer) of the whole CMS House site has been considered. It has been concluded that this option is very unlikely to generate a significantly higher land value than the Market Value of the CMS House in its existing use. In addition, a redevelopment proposal would take a long time to prepare and design, and it is uncertain what type of scheme would be accepted by planning officers – thus in terms of risk and timescales, redevelopment is less attractive than a sale for continued retail use.
	The alternative of a wider residential-led development – including the neighbouring land to the west – has been considered. This would likely deliver a better quality, more valuable residential development, but would be more complex and would require costly land assembly (including the land currently occupied by Kendall Cars), thus does not appear to be a financially attractive option for the Council.
	An overage payment has agreed based on the potential uplift in site value as a result of securing a planning consent for a mixed-use, residential-led development. Based on initial valuations, it appears that the uplift in site value over the existing use is likely to be modest, thus a relatively small overage payment has been proposed, in order to not restrict the development potential of the site. In any case, the Purchaser has no intention of redevelopment and intends to trade from the property under its existing retail-warehouse use.
	There is considerable uncertainty over development potential, including the number of storeys that would be permitted. Based on nearby planning applications, up to around 6 storeys would likely be able to secure planning consent. Another issue is that the Site Allocation requires that any redevelopment incorporates retail or employment uses, which complicates residential-led development and constrains achievable land values.

	5.0	Corporate Strategy
	5.1	The proposal to sell part of CMS House contributes to a number of Objectives in the Corporate Plan (2021/22), including the following “Place” Objectives: 1) “promoting a strong economy”, by re-accommodating a local business and enabling the redevelopment of an obsolete industrial estate; 2) sustainable development, by enabling the delivery of modern industrial units to replace units that fall below Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards.  In addition, it contributes to the “Us” Objective of ensuring an “Effective Use of Resources” by maximising the value of the Council’s assets.
	5.2	The Corporate Plan (2021/22) has been followed by the Woking for all supplementary priorities (2022-2027) strategy, and the proposed sales meets a number of this strategy’s objectives, including encouraging a “A high performing council” by helping to “Get the Council’s finances under control” and “Consider new approaches to increase income”.

	6.0	Implications
	6.1	No major risks identified.
	6.2	None arising from this report.
	6.3	There are no legal implications, other than those outlined in this report.
	6.4	This disposal is considered to be compliant with the provisions of S123 of the Local Government Act 1972.

	7.0	Engagement and Consultation
	7.1	None arising from this report.
	APPENDIX A – Site plan showing the extent of the CMS House site as per the red line boundary, of which the front building to be sold to the Purchaser is to the north of the pink line.


	12. Asset Disposal EXE23-082

